
For a meeting of the
COUNCIL
to be held on

THURSDAY, 22 NOVEMBER 2018
at

2.00 PM
in the

SHEKINAH ROOM, JUBILEE CHURCH LIFE CENTRE, 5 LONDON 
ROAD, GRANTHAM, NG31 6EY

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

Members of the Council are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the 
items of business listed below.

For those Councillors who wish to attend, prayers will be held in the Council 
Chamber at 1:55pm before the commencement of the meeting. Please be 
seated by 1:50pm.

1  PUBLIC OPEN FORUM 

The public open forum will commence at 2.00 p.m. and the following formal 
business of the Council will commence at 2.30 p.m. or whenever the public 
open forum ends, if earlier.

2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at 
the meeting.

4  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27 SEPTEMBER 2018 (Pages 3 - 
13)

5  COMMUNICATIONS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS) 
(Page 15)

An overview of the Chairman’s engagements.

(a)  South Kesteven - best kept village 

Presentation to the winners of the best kept village in South Kesteven 
competition.

AGENDA



6  REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES (Pages 17 - 59)

Report number LDS329 of the Returning Officer.

7  COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW - CORBY GLEN PARISH COUNCIL 
(Pages 61 - 67)

Report number LDS328 of the Deputy Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 
Member for Communities, Health, Wellbeing and Skills.

8  ESTABLISHMENT OF A WORKING GROUP TO UNDERTAKE A REVIEW 
OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES IN PREPARATION FOR THE MUNICIPAL 
YEAR FROM MAY 2019 (Pages 69 - 73)

Report number LDS331 of the Deputy Leader of the Council.

9  ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION - STAMFORD (Pages 75 - 90)

Report number DM16 of the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications.

10  MEETINGS OF THE CABINET (Pages 91 - 114)

Report number LDS330 of the Leader of the Council.

11  MEMBERS' OPEN QUESTIONS 

A 45-minute period in which members may ask questions of the Leader, 
Cabinet Members, the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and opposition group leaders excluding the Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of the Development Management Committee, Licensing 
and Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Licensing 
Committees and Governance and Audit Committee.

12  NOTICES OF MOTION GIVEN UNDER ARTICLE 4.9: 

(a)  Councillor Phil Dilks 

This Council resolves that all current and future applications relating to 
major sites are referred to the Council’s Development Management 
Committee for determination.

The deadline for notices of motion for the Council meeting on Thursday, 31 January 
2019 is 2pm on Friday 18 January 2019



PRESENT
Councillor George Chivers, Chairman

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Stephen Benn
Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Damian Evans
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Tracey Forman
Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Breda Griffin
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Michael King
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Nick Robins

Councillor Bob Russell
Councillor Bob Sampson
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Peter Stephens
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Mrs Sarah Stokes
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Mrs Brenda Sumner
Councillor David Taylor
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Frank Turner
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Martin Wilkins
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Resources (Debbie 
Muddimer
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Assistant Chief Executive – 
Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield)

Assistant Director, Resources (Richard 
Wyles)
Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

34. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Adams, Ashwell, 
Bosworth, Broughton, Cook, R. Cooke, Coutts, Craft, Cunningham, Kaberry-
Brown, Mapp, Powell, Selby, Judy Smith, Ward and Webster.

MINUTES
COUNCIL
THURSDAY, 27 SEPTEMBER 2018
2.00 PM

3

Agenda Item 4



Members sent their best wishes to Councillor Mike Cook following a recent 
spell in hospital. The Council also sent its best wishes to Councillor Mrs. 
Kaberry-Brown.

35. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

No interests were disclosed.

36. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26 JULY 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2018 were proposed, seconded 
and agreed as a correct record. 

At previous meetings of the Council reference had been made to a planning 
enforcement issue which had led to Councillor Peter Stephens seeking 
retrospective permission for work to part of his property. At those meetings 
there had been calls for Councillor Stephens to make an apology to the 
Council. Councillor Stephens addressed the meeting and made his apology, 
saying that he regretted the situation. Members of the Council accepted 
Councillor Stephens’ apology.

37. COMMUNICATIONS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS)

The Council noted the Chairman’s engagements.

38. AMENDMENTS TO THE BUDGET FRAMEWORK

Decision:

The Council approves

1. A revenue budget in 2018/19 of up to £100k for initial set-up costs 
and up to £500k as initial working capital for DeliverSK and to 
approve the use of the Council’s local priority reserve to finance this 
budget amendment

2. The necessary capital budget allocation as set out in paragraph 1.12 
of exempt appendix 1 to report number CFM473 in order to proceed 
with the acquisition of a parcel of land in the South Kesteven area, 
and the associated capital financing costs in future years’ revenue 
budgets

3. That the Governance and Audit Committee is asked to consider any 
changes necessary to the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
to allow the initial and future investments in DeliverSK activities and 
projects

It was proposed, seconded and on being put to the vote agreed that the press 

4



and public should be excluded from the meeting because of the likelihood that 
information exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) as contained in the exempt appendix to 
report number CFM473 would be disclosed to them.

14:11 – Members of the press and public left the meeting

The Cabinet Member for Finance introduced report number CFM473 and 
proposed the recommendations detailed in the report, adding that he wished a 
single vote to be taken on all recommendations. The proposition was 
seconded.

Several Members spoke in support of the acquisition of land in South Kesteven 
and the potential opportunities and advantages it presented.

Some reservations were expressed that a broader range of Members would not 
be involved in the selection of the private sector partner for DeliverSK. It was 
noted that the formation of the company had been considered in depth by the 
Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Members were reminded that the 
proposed model for DeliverSK was not unique and in order to enable its 
formation to progress as swiftly as possible, the Chairman of the Governance 
and Audit Committee promised an early meeting at which the Committee would 
consider updates to the Treasury Management Strategy. Members recognised 
that the projects allowed the Council to proactively influence the economic 
development of the district.

14:31 – The meeting returned to open session and members of the press and 
public returned to the meeting

A request was made that a recorded vote be taken. As the request was 
supported by more than ten Members of the Council, in accordance with Article 
4.13.4 of the Council’s Constitution, a recorded vote was taken.

For Against Abstain
Councillor Baxter
Councillor Benn
Councillor Cartwright
Councillor Chivers
Councillor K Cooke
Councillor Dilks
Councillor Dobson
Councillor Evans
Councillor Exton
Councillor Forman
Councillor Goral
Councillor Griffin
Councillor Jeal
Councillor King
Councillor Kingman

5



Councillor Lee
Councillor Manterfield
Councillor Dr. Moseley
Councillor Neilson
Councillor Robins
Councillor Russell
Councillor Sampson
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Stephens
Councillor Stevens
Councillor A Stokes
Councillor I Stokes
Councillor S Stokes
Councillor Brenda Sumner
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Taylor
Councillor Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Turner
Councillor Westropp
Councillor Wilkins
Councillor Wood
Councillor L Wootten
Councillor R Wootten

38 0 0

The proposition was carried.

39. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

The Vice-Chairman of the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee presented 
the Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18 on behalf of the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee Chairmen. It provided a synopsis of the work 
undertaken by each of the five Overview and Scrutiny Committees during the 
2017/18 municipal year. Another of the Chairmen also commended the 
document to the Council.

During debate, Members referred to the changes that had been made to the 
Overview and Scrutiny structure noting that 2017/18 was the first year in which 
the new arrangements had operated. Several Members who spoke stated that 
they felt that the arrangements had led to some improvement in the way that 
scrutiny was carried out while acknowledging that further improvements could 
still be made.

One Member spoke about difficulties he had experienced getting items 
included on agendas for Overview and Scrutiny Committees with some other 
Members agreeing that it could be made easier for Councillors to add items to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee agendas. It was noted that any additional 
agenda items that Members wished to put forward would need to be prioritised 
in the context of other items on the Committee’s work programme.

6



A suggestion was made that it might be appropriate to review the arrangements 
now they had been in place for a full year, including a review of good practice 
and how it might be shared across Committees. A number of Members spoke 
about the roles of scrutiny and how strong scrutiny leads to robust decisions.

A number of comments were made about the importance of fully engaging 
opposition Councillors and back bench Members of the administration. Several 
Members praised the way the Committees on which they sat were chaired and 
how they felt that all members of those Committees were given a fair chance to 
contribute.

The Council noted the contents of report number LDS294 and the contents of 
the Scrutiny Annual Report for 2017/18.

40. LEADER'S REPORT ON URGENT DECISIONS

The Council noted the contents of the Leader’s report on urgent decisions 
(report number LDS320). 

41. MEETINGS OF THE CABINET

Members noted the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 July 2018 as 
appended to report number LDS321.

One Member asked why the street lighting policy, which had been referred 
back to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee had not been on 
the agenda for the first meeting following the Cabinet meeting at which it had 
been referred back. Members were advised that at that meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee the Cabinet Member for Environment had 
given a robust and critical explanation of why the Cabinet had referred the 
matter back to the Committee. Members were also informed that a workshop 
had been organised to talk about those issues and that it was hoped that the 
amended report would be forwarded to Cabinet as soon as possible.

42. MEMBERS' OPEN QUESTIONS

Question 1

Councillor Dilks referred to a recent meeting of the Governance and Audit 
Committee at which Members heard about gas boilers that had been fitted. The 
boilers had a design fault which caused failure because of condensation 
issues. The Committee had asked that a letter be written to the company that 
manufactured the boilers asking what they were going to do to remedy the 
problem. Councillor Dilks asked the Cabinet Member for Housing whether the 
letter had been written, whether he could have a copy and whether the boilers 
had been fitted in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 

The Cabinet Member for Housing stated that he would expect the boilers to 

7



have been fitted in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. He was not 
aware whether the letter had been written but committed to finding out and e-
mailing an answer to Councillor Dilks.

A subsequent speaker referred to the same issue and stated that it should be a 
top priority for the Council to ensure that the most vulnerable people in the 
community were protected. The Leader responded, saying that he would ask 
the Cabinet Member for Housing and the relevant Director to urgently address 
the issue to form a plan of what was wrong, what action was being taken and 
the associated timescales. 

Question 2

Councillor Ian Stokes addressed a question to the Cabinet Member for 
Environment which concerned the different rules that applied to the separation 
of refuse and recycling across the county, querying how members of the public 
were supposed to know what they were and were not able to recycle.

The Cabinet Member for Environment made reference to a new strategy that 
had been agreed by members of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership; one of its 
aims was to overcome these challenges. He stated that plastics presented the 
biggest challenge, with several different categories, some of which were 
recyclable while others were not. The partnership was working towards a 
common set of recyclable streams in the future. He added that the ‘reduce’ 
strand of the waste hierarchy was key and referred to shopping practices that 
could support reductions in packaging materials, in turn reducing the materials 
for disposal.

While the Cabinet Member said that there was no simple answer, he reassured 
Members that the Council had a strong voice in the partnership and was 
pushing its agenda with regard to making recycling easier and in turn making it 
more efficient and valuable. 

Question 3

Councillor Ray Wootten posed a question to the Leader. In doing so he referred 
to the instruction made by the Minister for Health to United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals Trust and the Clinical Commissioning Group to produce a plan for 
future services at Grantham Hospital which should be submitted by December 
2018. Councillor Wootten asked the Leader whether he agreed with residents, 
campaign groups and Councillors that they needed to be consulted on the 
plans and that the hospital’s accident and emergency department should return 
to a 24-hour service as soon as possible.

The Leader of the Council referred to a recent letter he had written with the 
Leader of Lincolnshire County Council providing full political support for a return 
to 24-hour accident and emergency provision and urging for plans for the 
hospital to be published. He added that he was disappointed that the Minister 
for Health had had to intervene but said that he looked forward to receiving 

8



proposals as soon as possible. He highlighted support across for the Chamber 
for the return of 24-hour provision as well as his frustration about the lack of 
engagement so far on the future of health services.

Question 4

Councillor Forman asked the Cabinet Member for Housing why the results of 
the Tenants’ Survey that was completed in July would not be presented to 
Cabinet until November 2018.

The Cabinet Member for Housing explained that the results of the survey had 
been analysed and evaluated and he felt that the appropriate amount of time 
had been taken to produce a good quality document.

Question 5

Councillor Baxter referred to the appointment of a communications consultant 
and asked whether, given the costs associated with the post, it constituted 
good procurement practice and value for money.

The Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications stated that this question 
had been answered previously and was clear that the Council procured 
employees in a variety of different ways, with consultants forming a part of that. 
She added that she did believe that the use of this consultant constituted value 
for money, it was unfair to target one individual in this way and that it was a 
convention that would continue to be used where applicable.

43. NOTICES OF MOTION  GIVEN UNDER ARTICLE 4.9:

(1) Councillor Phil Dilks

Decision:

In the spirit of working to do everything within its power to eradicate 
this and recognising recent changes in the way projects and services 
may be delivered, the Council resolves to work with contractors, 
Police and H M Revenue and Customs to deal with instances of 
modern slavery and to build on its existing Public Statement. The 
Council further undertakes to request the Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee review the Council’s existing commitments, 
including those set out in the Equality and Diversity Annual Position 
Statement 2017 and propose any further recommendations as 
appropriate.

Councillor Dilks proposed his motion: 

In the spirit of working to do everything within its power to eradicate 
this and recognising recent changes in the way projects and 

9



services may be delivered, the Council now resolves to take the lead 
in strengthening and building on its existing public statement on 
Modern Slavery.
 
Specifically, the Council will take the following actions:

 
1. Ensure that all those employed to procure goods and services 

for the Council -including those working for Gravitas Housing 
Limited, InvestSK, DeliverSK and any other company set up by 
the Council – are trained through the Chartered Institute of 
Procurement and Supply’s (CIPS) online course on Ethical 
Procurement and Supply to understand modern slavery

2. Require all contractors and private sector partners of Gravitas 
Housing Limited, InvestSK, DeliverSK, - and any other company 
or partnership set up by the Council - to comply fully with the 
Modern Slavery Act 2015, wherever it applies, with 
contract/partnership termination as a potential sanction for non-
compliance.

3. Challenge any abnormally low-cost tenders or offers to work in 
partnership with the Council - or with companies set up by the 
Council - to ensure they do not rely on the potential contractor 
or partner practising modern slavery.

4. Write into agreements and contracts with the Council’s suppliers 
and potential partners that contracted workers are free to join a 
trade union and are not to be treated unfairly for belonging to 
one.

5. Require tendered contractors and partner companies working 
with the Council - whether directly or through Gravitas Housing 
Limited, Invest SK, Deliver SK or any other company set up by 
the Council - to adopt a whistle-blowing policy which enables 
their staff to blow the whistle on any suspected examples of 
modern slavery. 

6. Publicise the Council’s whistle-blowing system for staff and 
those working for companies set up by the Council to blow the 
whistle on any suspected examples of modern slavery.

7. Regularly review all such contractual spending and partnerships 
to identify any potential issues with modern slavery.

8. Highlight for suppliers to the Council and partners in companies 
set up by the Council any risks identified concerning modern 
slavery and refer them to the relevant agencies to be 
addressed.

10



9. Refer for investigation via the National Crime Agency’s national 
referral mechanism any contractor or partner working with the 
Council or its companies, which may be identified as a cause for 
concern regarding modern slavery.

10.Report publicly on the implementation of this policy annually.

In so doing, he made reference to statistical information about the extent of 
modern slavery in the UK and measures that had recently been announced 
to protect people from slavery. He added that Councils had an important 
role to play in tackling modern slavery including identifying and supporting 
victims and making sure the organisation’s purchasing power was used 
correctly. He explained that he had brought the motion as a chance for the 
Council to show that it cares about the issue, to raise awareness and to 
make a commitment to fight the issue. He explained that a similar motion 
had been passed by other local authorities in the country, adding that he 
did not think it was an issue about which the Council should turn a blind 
eye.

The motion was seconded and the seconder referred to a recent modern 
slavery case in Lincolnshire. Reference was made to the conditions in 
which victims were forced to live and how the problem was so serious 
because the signs were often hidden. The seconder also referred to a 
section from the Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules, 
which state that the Council is committed to ensuring contractors and 
suppliers adhere to the highest standards of ethics.

Some support was expressed for the motion but not the actions that were 
proposed. Reference was also made to modern slavery cases from other 
parts of the country and indictors of modern slavery. Further statistical 
information about the modern slavery helpline was also shared. One 
speaker said that the Council should do everything it could to ensure that 
modern slavery was eradicated and that passing a motion to that end 
would not be sufficient.

An amendment to the motion was proposed and seconded:

In the spirit of working to do everything within its power to eradicate 
this and recognising recent changes in the way projects and 
services may be delivered, the Council resolves to work with 
contractors, Police and H M Revenue and Customs to deal with 
instances of modern slavery and to build on its existing public 
statement. The Council further undertakes to request the 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee review the 
Council’s existing commitments, including those set out in the 
Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2017 and propose 
any further recommendations as appropriate.    

One Member spoke against the amendment, saying that it brought little by 

11



way of substantive action and that the original motion proposed sensible 
measures that would result in more than just a vote.

The proposer of the original motion said that with reluctance he would 
support the amendment as he did not want the issue to be political and the 
Council’s stance to be cross-party. 

On being put to the vote, the amendment was carried and became the 
substantive motion. The substantive motion was put to the vote and 
carried.

(2) Councillor Ashley Baxter

Decision

The Council did not support the motion put by Councillor Baxter

Councillor Baxter proposed his motion:

This Council notes the continued and increasing use of ad hoc 
workshops and briefings to discuss Council policies, programmes 
and progress.

These meetings take place behind closed doors and, in many cases, 
they are called at short notice at the direction of Committee Chairs 
without reference to Committee members or other Councillors.

Therefore the Council recommends:

1. Councillor briefings and workshops will be held in public unless 
the content is likely to be exempt under Para 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

2. Details of time, date, venue and subject area of workshops and 
briefings will be publicised to all Members, and the wider public, 
at least two working days before they take place.

3. Action notes and recommendations from committee workshops 
will be presented to the next available formal meeting of the 
relevant committee.

Councillor Baxter referred to working group meetings where access to 
Members was restricted to a particular Committee and the way the action 
notes from those meetings were shared with the wider Member cohort and 
members of the public. While there was recognition that some of the 
information discussed at meetings and contained in action notes might 
contain information that was exempt and should therefore not be disclosed 
to the public, he indicated that it should be made clear that a meeting had 
taken place. Specific reference was made to a workshop held by the 

12



Shareholder Committee in January 2018, the action notes from which had 
only recently been published. Reference was also made to a future 
workshop meeting about wellbeing, which had been organised in 
association with the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and to which all Members of the Council had been invited. He 
suggested that it was a topic that members of the public may also find of 
interest. Unless a meeting was to deal with exempt information, he felt that 
they should be open to the public and that the public should know that the 
meeting had taken place. The motion was seconded and the sentiment of 
ensuring public access to meetings of the Council was reiterated.

A number of Members spoke against the proposition. During debate some 
concerns raised by Members included distinguishing those meetings at 
which it might be appropriate for the public to attend and those where it 
would not, with specific reference being made to briefings for Committee 
Chairmen. Comments were also made about how the workshop structure 
facilitated full debate on complex issues where sensitive proposals could 
be fully considered without fallback for any individual Councillor. It was 
noted that any policy considered in a workshop session would still go to a 
meeting of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee for public debate and 
consideration. 

Several Members referred to measures that had been put in place to 
improve openness and transparency by the administration that came into 
place in May 2017, including Members’ open questions at Council 
meetings, the introduction of Councillor briefings, publishing Cabinet 
papers as part of the Council agenda and changes to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee structure. Reference was also made to future plans to 
webcast meetings.

As the proposer of the motion, Councillor Baxter was given the opportunity 
to sum up. In doing so he referred to the distinctions between meetings of 
Group Leaders, briefings for Chairmen, meetings held in exempt session 
and workshops. He also spoke about Councillor briefings and making 
information available that could benefit everybody, saying in some 
instances that the subjects covered in the briefings duplicated information 
that was also being made available through the Council’s public meeting 
programme.

The motion was put to the vote and lost.

44. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting closed at 15:52.

13



This page is intentionally left blank



List of Chairman’s Engagements
26 September 2018 – 22 November 2018

Date Ref Organisation and Event Location
Wednesday 
26.09.18

GC042 RSA Gravity Events
(four events in total)

Guildhall / various

Sunday 
30.09.18

GC038 HM Government of Gibraltar
Reception – The Chief Minister

Hall 8, The ICC Birmingham
Birmingham

Sunday 
07.10.18

GC015 Chairman’s Civic Service St Wulfram’s Church
Grantham

Thursday 
11.10.18

GC057 Opening of the St Wulfram’s Beer Festival St Wulfram’s Church
Grantham

Friday 
12.10.18

GC041 Mayor of Bourne Town Council
Civic Dinner

Bourne 

Saturday 
13.10.18

GC055 St Wulfram’s Beer Festival St Wulframs Church
Grantham

Sunday 
14.10.18

GC034 Londonthorpe PC
Planting a Walnut Tree in Belton Park

Belton Park, Grantham

Sunday 
14.10.18

GC058 Grantham Canal Discovery Day Canal Depot, Woolsthorpe by 
Belvoir,

Sunday 
14.10.18

GC044 Choral Evensong St Wulfram’s Church

Saturday 
20.10.18

GC054 Opening of the Gt Gonerby Memorial Hall Great Gonerby Memorial Hall

Sunday 
21.10.18

GC031 Grantham Lions Club
Annual Variety Concert

Priory Ruskin Academy
Grantham

Friday 
26.10.18

GC045 Mayor of Peterborough, Commemoration 
of the end of the Great War

Queensgate Shopping Centre

Sunday 
28.10.18

GC052 Mablethorpe Civic Service Mablethorpe

Saturday 
03.11.18

BS011 Dedication of the Garden of 
Remembrance

The War Memorial Stamford

Sunday 
04.11.18

BS007 Opening of Garden of Remembrance Market Deeping and Deeping St 
James

Sunday 
04.11.18

GC046 Opening the Garden of Remembrance St Peter’s Hill, Grantham

Tuesday 
06.11.18

GC053 A time to Remember 
Silhouettes

St Mary and St Nicholas Church 
Spalding

Wednesday 
07.11.18

GC047 Civilian Service at the Crematorium Grantham Crematorium

Sunday 
11.11.18

GC049 Remembrance Sunday St Wulfram’s Church, Grantham

Sunday 
11.11.18

GC059 Memorial Wreath laying St Peter’s Hill, Grantham

Sunday 
11.11.18

GC050 Closing of the Remembrance Gardens St Peter’s Hill, Grantham

Sunday 
11.11.18

GC043 Tree Planting – Wyndham Park Wyndham Park, Grantham

Sunday 
11.11.18

GC061 Dedication of the Clock – Wyndham Park Wyndham Park, Grantham

Sunday
11.11.18

GC048 Lighting of the Beacon  
A Nation’s Tribute WW1  

Wyndham Park, Grantham

Sunday 
18.11.18

BS012 Closing of Garden of Remembrance Market Deeping and
Deeping St James

Sunday 
18.11.18

GC060 East Lindsey Civic Service Church of St Luke
Boston

15

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL

Report of: 
The Returning Officer

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

22 November 2018

Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places  
(LDS329)

Decision
Proposal:

Council Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Julie Edwards, Elections and Democratic Team Leader
Tel: 01476 40 60 78
Email: j.edwards@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 29 October 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel : 01476 40 61 05
Email: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 5 November 2018

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive and Returning Officer
Tel : 01476 40 61 00
Email : aidan.rave@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date :  5 November 2018

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council
E-mail: kelham.cooke@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 8 November 2018
 

SUMMARY

This report sets out proposals for revised polling districts and polling places following a 
review required by the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2012.

17

Agenda Item 6

mailto:j.edwards@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:aidan.rave@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:kelham.cooke@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

It is the recommendation of the Returning Officer for South Kesteven District Council 
that:

1. Council approves the proposals setting out changes to polling places as detailed 
in paragraph 2.2 of report LDS329

2. Council approves the proposals setting out changes to polling districts as 
detailed in paragraph 2.3 of report LDS329

3. Council approves the revised polling districts for the Stamford St Mary’s Ward 
and delegates authority to the Chief Executive as the Retuning Officer to 
approve any additional polling station in consultation with the Ward Members

4. That the approved revised polling districts and polling places take effect from the 
publication of the Electoral Register on 1 December 2018.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Representation of the People Act 1983 places a duty on the Council to 
divide the District into polling districts and to designate polling places for each of 
these districts.  The Council also has a duty to keep those arrangements under 
review.

1.2 The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 requires the Council to 
undertake compulsory reviews of UK Parliamentary polling districts and polling 
places every five years. The Council is required to complete the next 
compulsory review between October 2018 and January 2020.  

1.3 Although the compulsory review is not required to be completed until 2020, the 
review has been timed to enable any proposed changes to be implemented 
before the elections of District and Parish Councillors, which will take place on 2 
May 2019. 

1.4 The purpose of the review is to ensure that electors have reasonable facilities 
for voting and that so far as is reasonable and practicable, polling places are 
accessible to voters who are disabled.  

1.5 It is proposed that the revised polling districts and polling places, as detailed on 
Appendix 1, will take effect from the date of the publication of the electoral 
register on 1 December 2018.

1.6 Polling Districts are, in effect, sub divisions of electoral wards. Each parish or 
parish ward is automatically a polling district in its own right but then that area 
can be broken down into further polling districts dependent on the size of the 
parish and the number and location of the electors. Responsibility for 
determining polling district boundaries lies with the Council itself.  

1.7 The Council must designate a polling place for every polling district. In 
determining where polling places should be located the Council must seek to 
ensure that all the electors have such reasonable facilities for voting as are 
practical in the circumstances and that, so far as is reasonable and practical, 
polling places are accessible to all electors, including those who are disabled.

18



1.8 A schedule of the proposals outlined in this report, together with the polling 
arrangements for all polling districts within the district, are detailed on the 
Schedule of Polling Places attached at Appendix 1.  Any changes to the 
current polling place arrangements are identified in the proposal column of the 
schedule.

Review and Consultation Process

1.9 Public notice of the review was given on 2 October 2018 and full details of the 
review were placed on the Council’s website. 

1.10 Prior to the commencement of the review, initial consultation was undertaken of 
the existing polling districts and polling places with District Councillors. 

1.11 Draft proposals were prepared and published on 5 October 2018 and 
consultation on these draft proposals was undertaken from 5 October to 26 
October 2018. The consultation invited comments from all District and County 
Councillors, all Parish/Town councils, local political parties and the Acting 
Returning Officer for the constituencies partly within the South Kesteven area. 

1.12 The Notice of Review, which invited comments, was sent to Parish and Town 
Councils for display on their notice boards.

1.13 A total of 28 responses to the consultation have been received and these have 
been summarised and incorporated into Appendix 1. Comments received are 
listed against the relevant Ward.  

1.14 Changes are proposed in the following areas of the District:

Proposed changes to Polling Stations:

- Casewick Ward - Baston Parish 
- Grantham Arnoldfield Ward
- Grantham Barrowby Gate Ward 
- Grantham St Wulfram’s Ward 
- Lincrest Ward -  Welby Parish 
- Peascliffe and Ridgeway Ward - Great Gonerby Parish 
- Stamford All Saints Ward 
- Stamford St John’s Ward
- Viking Ward – Claypole Parish

Proposed amendment to polling district boundaries:

- Grantham Barrowby Gate Ward
- Stamford St George’s Ward
- Stamford St Mary’s Ward

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Where changes have been identified or where comments have been received 
as part of consultation process, various options have been considered in each 
case and these are detailed below:

19



2.2 Polling Station Locations

2.2.1 Casewick Ward - Baston Parish:

Currently residents of the Parish of Baston vote at Baston C E Primary School.  
Following complaints from parents and residents regarding the use of the 
school at the 2017 elections, The Barn, Main Street, Baston, which is a 
community facility, has been considered as an alternative venue.  The Barn is 
centrally located in the village, has a ramp available at one entrance and offers 
good facilities and car parking.

Proposal: 

To relocate the polling station from the Baston CE Primary School to The 
Barn, Main Street, Baston.  

2.2.2 Grantham Arnoldfield Ward – Polling District GAA1 and
Grantham Barrowby Gate Ward – Polling District GBA1:

Residents in polling districts GAA1 and GBA1 have previously voted at Newton 
House Care Home on Barrowby Road.  Following the County Council elections 
held in May 2017, the care home became unavailable and an alternative venue 
was found at short notice for the General election.  A portable building was sited 
on the car park of the Muddle Go Nowhere public house (now known as the 
Miller & Carter).  The newly built Poplar Farm School has been considered as 
an alternative venue.  No other alternative premises in the area have been 
identified.

Proposal: 

To relocate the polling station to the newly built Poplar Farm School, 
Helmsley Road, Grantham.  The proposed room at the school has direct 
access from the front of the building ensuring minimal disruption to the school 
and confirmation has been received that the school intends to remain open on 
polling day. This venue will be the location for 2 polling stations – for the 
Grantham Arnoldfield and Grantham Barrowby Gate Wards.

2.2.3 Grantham Springfield Ward – Polling District GSC1:

The room provided at Walton Girls’ High School has two steps at the entrance 
causing potential access difficulties.  Due to fencing around the school which 
must remain locked during school hours there are no other rooms available on 
the site.  The following alternative venues have been considered as part of the 
review:

 Grantham Squash Club – no suitable provision available on the ground floor; 
also outside polling district/ward

 Bethesda Evangelical Church – not available
 The Farrier Public House – no suitable accommodation available

20



Options available for voters unable to access the polling station via the stepped 
entrance at Walton Girls’ High School during school opening hours are:

a) To be accompanied by school staff a short distance to the alternative 
disabled access which requires access through a locked gate; or

b) A ballot paper to be taken outside of the polling station to the voter to 
mark in private (a table and temporary polling booth can be provided 
underneath the covered canopy area); or

c) Provision of a temporary ramp – because of the close proximity of a wall 
and the two steps at the entrance, ramping of the entrance is difficult.  
Initial enquiries have identified that the cost of purchasing a purpose built 
temporary ramp for this site is likely to be around £4000 plus VAT.  The 
specific ramp requires professional fitting by two persons to install and 
remove at each election, at a cost of approximately £1000 plus VAT per 
election.  

Proposal: 

That the polling station remain at Walton Girls’ High School and that 
options a) and b) detailed above are provided to any voters unable to gain 
access.

2.2.4 Grantham St Wulfram’s Ward – Polling Districts GWC1 and GWD1:

Part of the Grantham St Wulfram’s Ward currently vote at the Council’s Witham 
Room. Because of building works to the Council’s offices and civic suite, the 
Newton Room at the Guildhall Arts Centre has been considered as an 
alternative venue. This location is close to the current venue and provides good 
level access.

Proposal: 

That the polling station for polling districts GWC1 and GWD1 be relocated 
to the Newton Room at the Guilldhall Arts Centre.

2.2.5 Lincrest Ward – Welby Parish:

The polling station previously designated for the Welby Parish was the Crown 
and Anchor Public House. Following closure of the Crown and Anchor in 2017, 
the polling station was relocated to the St Bartholomew’s Church.  The Crown 
and Anchor has now reopened and will again be able to offer premises for use 
as a polling station. 

Proposal: 

That the polling station be returned to the Crown and Anchor Public 
House for future elections.

2.2.6 Peascliffe & Ridgeway Ward – Great Gonerby:

Currently residents of Great Gonerby vote at St Sebastian’s Primary School.  At 
recent elections, reports have been received that some voters have found the 
access door to the polling station difficult to open.  

21



The Great Gonerby Social Club has been considered as an alternative venue.  
The Social Club is located close to the school, provides good access and 
facilities and has a large car park.

Proposal: 

To relocate the polling station from the St Sebastian’s School to the Great 
Gonerby Social Club.  

2.2.7 Stamford All Saints Ward – Polling District SAC1 and Stamford St John’s 
Ward – Polling District SJB1:

Residents in polling districts SAC1 and SJB1 have previously voted at the 
Danish Invader Public House, Empingham Road, Stamford.

Following the County Council elections in 2017, the function room at the Danish 
Invader was unavailable for the June 2017 General election and a portable 
building was hired and sited in the pub car park. For the Stamford St John’s 
Ward by-election held in March 2018, the polling station was relocated to the 
Stamford Rugby Club, Hambleton Road, Stamford. During the consultation, 
concern was raised by Ward members that the rugby club would be rebuilt in 
the near future and may not be available. Confirmation has since been received 
that the current premises will continue to be available for the 2019 elections and 
until such a time as a replacement is built.

Proposal: 

That the polling station be relocated to the Stamford Rugby Club for 
future elections.

2.2.8 Viking Ward – Claypole Parish:

Currently residents of the Parish of Claypole vote at the Claypole Primary 
School Hall. The Claypole Village Hall has been considered as an alternative 
venue to the School.  The Village Hall is centrally located in the village and has 
good car parking facilities. Although the village hall has steps to the main 
entrance an alternative entrance is available with a temporary ramp provided. 

Proposal: 

That the polling station is relocated to the Claypole Village Hall.  

2.3 Proposed changes to polling district boundaries

2.3.1 Grantham Barrowby Gate Ward – revision of boundary between polling 
districts GBA1 and GBB1:

The number of electors registered to vote at the proposed Poplar Farm School 
is relatively high and is increasing due to the Poplar Farm development. To 
address this, it is proposed that the polling district boundary for the Grantham 
Barrowby Gate Ward be modified between polling districts GBA1 and GBB1.  
This would involve approximately 400 electors registered in Barrowby Gate, 

22



Bradford Close, Durham Close, Wakefield Close, York Way, Coles Way, Neals 
Crescent and Lamplight Square. The proposal would reduce the number of 
potential voters at the Poplar Farm School by approximately 400 and relocate 
these to the Table Tennis Centre. In addition, this proposal would result in the 
whole of Coles Way being contained in one polling district instead of being split 
across two as it is currently.

Proposal: 

To revise the polling district boundary to relocate 2 small areas from 
polling district GBA1 to GBB1 as shown at Map 1 of Appendix 2.  

2.3.2 Stamford St George’s Ward -  Revision of polling district boundaries:

During the consultation period, a response was received from a ward member 
requesting that consideration be given to voters in Recreation Ground Road 
being able to vote at a more convenient polling station. To address this, it is 
proposed that the internal polling district boundaries be modified to relocate 
parts of polling districts SGA1 and SGC1 (as shown at Map 2 on Appendix 2).  
This would involve a change of polling station for approximately 461 electors 
registered in this area.  The proposal would allow 187 electors who currently 
vote at Stamford Free Church and 274 electors who currently vote at Edmonds 
Close Communal Room, to vote at Essex Road Communal Room, which is 
located closer than their current polling place.

Proposal: 

To revise the polling district boundaries as shown on Map 2 of Appendix 
2.

2.4 Stamford St Mary’s Ward – Suggested changes:

During the consultation, a comment was received from a Ward member 
suggesting that an additional polling station be considered for residents in the 
area south of the river. St Martin’s Church has been suggested as a possible 
venue.

Voters in the identified area currently vote at the Stamford Arts Centre, St 
Mary’s Street, Stamford.

St Martin’s Church has been assessed with regards to suitability for use as a 
polling station, using guidelines provided by the Electoral Commission.  The 
Church is well situated within the area. The area of the church identified for the 
polling station is the Burghley Chapel situated at the rear of the church.  The 
Chapel has direct level access with level footpaths leading to the entrance. 
However the following concerns have been identified:

 Width of access door to the Burghley Chapel, which when open, is less 
than the recommended minimum for accommodating standard 
wheelchairs and motorised wheelchairs;

 Limited space for provision of two polling stations (two polling stations 
are required at a County Council election to accommodate the two 
electoral divisions voting at this venue);

23



 The entrance to the Church on High Street St Martin’s has a number of 
steps with level access from Park Lane at the rear.  Any voter arriving at 
the High Street St Martin’s entrance who is unable to access the steps 
would need to travel a consideration distance via Barnack Road and 
Park Lane to the Chapel entrance (a distance of 280 metres).

A room at The George Hotel Business Centre has also been considered as an 
alternative venue however the costs associated with the hire were prohibitive.

The provision of an additional polling station in the Stamford St Mary’s Ward will 
continue to be explored. To enable an additional polling station to be introduced 
in the future, it will be necessary to amend the polling district boundaries to 
create a separate polling district for the area south of the river. It is therefore 
proposed that the internal polling district boundaries be modified to relocate 
parts of the current polling district SMB1 to create a new polling district SME1 
(as shown at Map 3 on Appendix 2).  This would enable polling districts SMD1 
and SME1 to be relocated to another polling station should a suitable venue be 
found.

Proposal: 

It is proposed that the polling station for the areas within these polling 
districts remain at the Stamford Arts Centre at the present time. The 
provision of an additional polling station in this part of the Stamford St 
Mary’s Ward will continue to be explored.  It is recommended that Council 
delegates authority to the Chief Executive as the Retuning Officer to 
approve any additional polling station in this Ward in consultation with 
the Ward Members.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.   

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 Analysis of potential impact has been carried out to ensure any barriers to 
voting can be removed or at least mitigated through the necessary use of 
reasonable adjustment.  Electors are able to vote by alternative means if they 
are unable to attend a designated polling station.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

24



7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 The proposals, if implemented, will have no financial implications.  In the event 
of the inclusion any additional polling stations, the likely cost to the Council is 
expected to be approximately £700-£800 per polling station.  Provision is made 
in the 2019/20 budget for the cost of the 2019 District Council elections.    Costs 
for other types of elections are recharged to other bodies.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The Council has a legal duty under section 17 of the Electoral Registration and 
Administration Act 2013 to complete a review of polling districts and polling 
places by 31 January 2020.  Subsequent compulsory reviews must be held 
every five years.  

8.2 The review has been conducted in accordance with the requirements of the 
Representation of the People Act 1983 and the guidance issued by the 
Electoral Commission

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

 Appendix 1: Schedule of revised proposed polling districts and polling places, 
consultation feedback and list of streets for Town areas.

 Appendix 2: Maps showing proposed polling district boundaries for parts of 
the Grantham Barrowby Gate,  Stamford St George’s and Stamford St Mary’s 
Wards

 Appendix 3: Equality Impact Initial Analysis 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Notice of Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=23868&p=0

 Electoral Commission Guidance on the Review of Polling Districts and 
Polling Places 
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/i-am-a/electoral-administrator/polling-
place-reviews

 Acting Returning Officer’s Draft Proposals
https://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=23873&p=0

25

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=23868&p=0
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/i-am-a/electoral-administrator/polling-place-reviews
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/i-am-a/electoral-administrator/polling-place-reviews
https://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=23873&p=0


This page is intentionally left blank



REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICT, POLLING 
PLACES AND POLLING STATIONS 2018 

SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED POLLING 
ARRANGEMENTS – NOVEMBER 2018

GRANTHAM AND STAMFORD PARLIAMENTARY 
CONSTITUENCY

SLEAFORD AND NORTH HYKEHAM PARLIAMENTARY 
CONSTITUENCY (PART OF)

SOUTH HOLLAND AND THE DEEPINGS PARLIAMENTARY 
CONSTITUENCY (PART OF)

27

Appendix 1



POLLING PLACES: OVERVIEW OF RETURNING OFFICER’S 
PROPOSALS 

Aveland Ward

Consultation Feedback None

Constituency Polling 
District Parish 

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

AVA1 Aslackby & Laughton 191 The Church of St James the 
Great, Aveland Way, Aslackby

AVB1 Dowsby 139 Dowsby Village Hall, 23 Main 
Road, Dowsby

AVC1 Dunsby 86 Dunsby Village Hall, The 
Cross, Dunsby

AVD1 Haconby & Stainfield 361 The Hare and Hounds Public 
House, 2 West Road, Haconby

AVE1 Pointon & 
Sempringham

342 Pointon Village Hall, Milthorpe 
Road, Pointon

Grantham & 
Stamford

AVF1 Rippingale 623 Rippingale Village Hall, Station 
Street, Rippingale

No change

Belmont Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Nick Craft, District Ward Member – supports current polling station 
arrangements

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

BEA1 824 Belmont Community Primary 
School, Harrowby Lane

BEB1 1083 Belmont Community Primary 
School, Harrowby Lane

Grantham & 
Stamford

BEC1

Londonthorpe & 
Harrowby Without 
(‘Harrowby & 
Spitalgate’ Parish 
Ward) 1012 Belton Lane Community 

School & Children’s Centre, 
Queensway

No change

Belvoir Ward

Consultation feedback None

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

BLA1 Denton 197
BLD1 Wyville-cum-

Hungerton
41 Denton CE School, Church 

Street, Denton

BLB1 Harlaxton 550 Harlaxton Village Hall, 3 
Church Street, Harlaxton

Grantham & 
Stamford

BLC1 Woolsthorpe-by-
Belvoir

288 Woolsthorpe Village Hall, Main 
Street, Woolsthorpe by Belvoir

BLE2 Allington 592 Allington Village Hall, Side 
Street, Allington

BLF2 Barrowby 1304 The Reading Room, Church 
Street, Barrowby

Sleaford & 
North 

Hykeham

BLG2 Sedgebrook 238 Sedgebrook Social Club, 
Abbey Lane, Sedgebrook

No change

28



Bourne Austerby Ward

Consultation Feedback Councillor Duncan Ashwell, District Ward Member – supports current polling station 
arrangements, no other suggestions.

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

BNA1 1295 Darby & Joan Hall, South Road, 
Bourne

BNB1 1719 The Centre at Elsea Park, 1 
Sandown Way, Bourne

BNC1 632 Darby & Joan Hall, South Road, 
Bourne

Grantham & 
Stamford

BND1

Bourne – new 
‘South Fen’ Parish 
Ward

762 The Centre at Elsea Park, 1 
Sandown Way, Bourne

No change

Bourne East Ward

Consultation feedback None

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

BNJ1 Bourne – new 
‘Dyke Fen’ Parish 
Ward

1305 Bourne Youth Centre, Queen’s 
Road, Bourne

BNK1 Bourne – new 
‘North Fen’ Parish 
Ward

1392 Meadow Close Communal 
Room, Meadow Close, Bourne

BNL1 Bourne – new 
‘Dyke Fen’ Parish 
Ward

208 Dyke Village Hall, Main Road, 
Dyke

Grantham & 
Stamford

BNM1 Bourne – new 
‘North Fen’ Parish 
Ward

123 Twenty Village Hall, Station 
Road, Twenty

No change

Bourne West Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Helen Powell, District Ward Member – Supports current polling station 
locations, all have easy access and parking. 

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

BNR1 1324 Wake House Community Centre, 
41 North Street, Bourne

BNS1 1552 Bourne Westfield Primary 
Academy, Westbourne Park, 
Bourne

Grantham & 
Stamford

BNT1

Bourne – new 
‘Cawthorpe’ 
Parish Ward

462 Manor Court Communal Room, 
Manor Court, Bourne

No change

29



Casewick Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, District Ward Member – Welcomes and 
supports the move from the C of E school to The Barn at Baston. Problems have arisen 
in the past with the school being closed for the duration of some elections and this has 
caused problems for parents.  Since the last time The Barn was used for this purpose it 
has undergone a large renovation which includes decoration, new kitchen, toilets and 
heating.  It has separate access for disabled and good parking.  

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

CSA1 Barholm & Stowe 65
CSC1 Greatford 167

Greatford Village Hall, Carlby 
Road, Greatford No change

CSB1 Baston 1020 Baston C of E School, 103a 
Main Street, Baston

The Barn, Main 
Street, Baston

CSD1 Langtoft 1300 Langtoft Village Hall, 26 West 
End, Langtoft

CSE1 Tallington 607 Tallington Village Hall, Main 
Road, Tallington

Grantham & 
Stamford

CSF1 Uffington 421 Uffington Village Hall, 55 Main 
Road, Uffington

No change

NOTE:
Polling District CSB1 (Baston Parish) - Following complaints from parents and residents regarding the use of the 
Baston C of E School at the 2017 election, it is proposed that the polling station be relocated to The Barn, Main 
Street, Baston.  The Barn is centrally located in the village, has a ramp available at the front entrance and offers 
good facilities and car parking.  

Castle Ward

Consultation feedback None

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

CTA1 Burton Coggles 75 Burton Coggles Village Hall, Post 
Office Lane, Burton Coggles

CTB1 Corby Glen 693 Corby Glen Church Rooms, Church 
Street, Corby Glen

CTC1 Edenham 214 Edenham Village Hall, 44 Church 
Lane, Edenham

CTD1 Irnham 135 The Griffin Inn, 15 Bulby Road, 
Irnham

CTE1 Kirkby Underwood 146 Kirkby Underwood Village Hall, The 
Green, Kirkby Underwood

CTF1 Swayfield 242 Swayfield Village Hall, 33 Corby 
Road, Swayfield

Grantham & 
Stamford

CTG1 Swinstead 171 Swinstead Village Hall, Bourne 
Road, Swinstead

No change

Deeping St. James Ward

Consultation feedback None

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

DJA3 Deeping St James 2021 Deeping Community Centre, 2 
Douglas Road, Market 
Deeping

South Holland 
& The 

Deepings
DJB3 Deeping St James 2704 (2 polling 

stations)
Deeping St James Primary 
School, Hereward Way 

No change 

30



Dole Wood Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Barry Dobson, District Ward Member – Supports the current locations for 
the two polling stations. No negative comments have been received.

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

DWA1 Braceborough & 
Wilsthorpe

199 Braceborough & Wilsthorpe 
Village Hall, Braceborough

Grantham & 
Stamford

DWB1 Thurlby 1470 Methodist School Room, High 
Street, Thurlby

No change

Glen Ward

Consultation Feedback Councillor Martin Wilkins, District Ward Member – Supports the current locations 
which appear to work well.  No negative comments have been received.

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

ENA1 Careby, Aunby & 
Holywell

82

END1 Counthorpe & 
Creeton

59

ENE1 Little Bytham 226

Little Bytham Village Hall

ENB1 Carlby 336 Carlby Village Hall, High 
Street, Carlby

ENC1 Castle Bytham 529 Castle Bytham Village Hall, 
Pinfold Road, Castle Bytham

ENF1 Toft with Lound 
and Manthorpe

217

Grantham & 
Stamford

ENG1 Witham-on-the-Hill 141

Witham-on-the-Hill Parish 
Hall, Main Street

No change

Grantham Arnoldfield Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Helen Goral, District Ward Member – Supports the suggestions for 
Poplar Farm School and the Tennis Club. Only reservation relating to the school is if 
they would need to close on polling day.  

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

GAA1 N/A 1057 Previous polling place : 
Newton House Care Home, 
148 Barrowby Road

Poplar Farm 
School, 

Helmsley Road 

Grantham & 
Stamford

GAB1 N/A 1835 Grantham Tennis Club, 
Arnoldfield, Gonerby Road

Sleaford & 
North 

Hykeham

GAC2 Great Gonerby 
(Gonerby Hill 
Parish Ward)

165 Grantham Tennis Club, 
Arnoldfield, Gonerby Road

No change

NOTE: 
Polling district GAA1 - Following the County Council elections held in May 2017, Newton House Care Home 
became available and an alternative venue was found at short notice for the 2017 General Election - a portable 
building was sited on the carpark of the Muddle Go Nowhere public house (now known as the Miller & Carter).  It is 
proposed that the polling station for polling district GAA1 be relocated to Poplar Farm School, Helmsley Road, 
Grantham.  The proposed room at the school has direct access from the front of the building ensuring minimal 
disruption to the school. Confirmation has been received that the school intends to remain open on polling day. This 
venue will be the location for 2 polling stations for two Wards – Grantham Arnoldfield and Grantham Barrowby 
Gate.

Grantham Barrowby Gate Ward

Consultation feedback None

Constituency Polling Parish Polling station Current Polling Place Proposal31



District electorate
GBA1 N/A 2164 (proposal to 

transfer approx. 400 
electors to GBB1 – 
proposed total for 
this polling district : 
1764)

Previous polling place:
Newton House Care Home, 
148 Barrowby Road

Poplar Farm 
School, 

Helmsley Road 

Grantham & 
Stamford

GBB1 N/A 1035 (proposal to 
transfer approx. 400 
electors from GBA1 
– proposed total for 
this polling district : 
1435) 

South Kesteven Table Tennis 
Centre, The Meres Leisure 
Centre

No change to 
polling place 

NOTE: 
Polling place for GBA1: Following the County Council elections held in May 2017, Newton House Care Home 
became available and an alternative venue was found at short notice for the 2017 General Election.  A portable 
building was sited on the carpark of the Muddle Go Nowhere public house (now known as the Miller & Carter).  It is 
proposed that the polling station for polling district GBA1 be relocated to Poplar Farm School, Helmsley Road, 
Grantham.  The proposed room at the school has direct access from the front of the building ensuring minimal 
disruption to the school and confirmation has been received that the school intends to remain open on polling day. 
This venue will be the location for 2 polling stations – for the Grantham Arnoldfield and Grantham Barrowby Gate 
wardWards.
Proposed revised boundary between polling districts GBA1 and GBB1 – the proposal includes the revision of 
the boundary between the two polling districts to transfer 2 small areas from GBA1 to GBB1 as shown on Map 1 of 
Appendix 2.  This would involve approximately 400 electors registered in Barrowby Gate, Bradford Close, Durham 
Close, Wakefield Close, York Way, Coles Way, Neals Crescent and Lamplight Square.  This proposal would reduce 
the number of potential voters at the Poplar Farm School by approximately 400 and relocate these to the Table 
Tennis Centre.  In addition, this proposal would enable the whole of Coles Way to be contained within one polling 
district.  

Grantham Earlesfield Ward

Consultation feedback None

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

GEA1 N/A 1605 South Kesteven Table Tennis 
Centre, The Meres Leisure Centre, 
Trent Road

GEB1 N/A 1622 Grantham West Community 
Centre, Trent Road

Grantham & 
Stamford

GEC1 N/A 355 Earlesfield Lane Scout Hall, 
Earlesfield Lane

No change

Grantham Harrowby Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Ian Selby, District Ward Member – No issues with the current locations 
of polling stations in the Grantham Harrowby Ward.

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

GHA1 N/A 919 Canterbury Close Communal 
Room

GHB1 N/A 636 Belton Lane Community School & 
Children’s Centre

GHC1 N/A 824 Central Place Communal Room

Grantham & 
Stamford

GHD1 N/A 779 Belton Avenue Communal Room

No change

32



Grantham Springfield Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Adam Stokes, District Ward Member – Suggested car park at the 
Farrier or the Squash Club as possible alternative locations to Walton Girls’ High 
School.
Councillor Nikki Manterfield, District Ward Member – Suggested the Bethesda 
Evangelical Church opposite Walton Girls’ School as a possible alternative

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

GSA1 N/A 1044
GSB1 N/A 1426

Huntingtower Primary 
Academy, Extended Provision 
Building, Huntingtower Road

No change
Grantham & 

Stamford

GSC1 N/A 739 Walton Girls’ High School, 
Kitty Briggs Lane, Grantham No change 

NOTE:
Polling district GSC1 - The room provided at Walton Girls’ High School has a stepped entrance causing potential 
difficulty to some voters.  Due to fencing around the school which must remain locked during school hours there are 
no other rooms available on the site. Any voters who are unable to gain access to the polling station can be 
accompanied by school staff to an alternative disabled access or alternatively polling staff can take a ballot paper to 
a voter to vote in private outside (a temporary polling booth will be provided in these circumstances to maintain 
secrecy). A wall outside the polling station and the entrance door makes provision of a ramp at this entrance 
difficult. Alternative venues in the area have been investigated including The Farrier, Squash Club and Bethesda 
Evangelical Church, all of which either do not have suitable provision or are not available.  No alternative venue is 
available in the polling district. The school is centrally located in the polling district and convenient for voters. No 
change to polling place proposed.

Grantham St. Vincent’s Ward

Consultation feedback None

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

GVA1 528
GVB1 773

Sandon Close Communal 
Room

GVC1 1055 The Annexe, St. Anne’s 
Primary School, Harrowby 
Road

GVD1 996 Jubilee Life Church Centre, 
The Source Room, London 
Road

GVE1

N/A

907

Grantham & 
Stamford

GVF1 Londonthorpe & 
Harrowby Without 
(Bridge End Parish 
Ward)

215 Witham Place Communal 
Room

No change

33



Grantham St. Wulfram’s Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Ray Wootten, District Ward Member - supports the proposals for 
Grantham St Wulfram’s Ward

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

GWA1 1552 Cliffedale Primary School, 
Northcliffe Road

GWB1 932 Manners Street Communal 
Room

No change

GWC1 406

Grantham & 
Stamford

GWD1

N/A

236
Witham Room, SKDC Offices, 
St Peter’s Hill

Newton 
Room, 

Guildhall Arts 
Centre

Sleaford & 
North 

Hykeham

GWE2 Belton & 
Manthorpe 
(Rosedale 
Parish Ward)

177 Cliffedale Primary School, 
Northcliffe Road No change

NOTE:
Polling districts GWC1 and GWD1 - Part of the Grantham St Wulfram’s Ward currently vote at the Council’s 
Witham Room. Because of building works to the Council’s offices and civic suite, the Newton Room at the Guildhall 
Arts Centre has been considered as an alternative venue. This location is close to the current venue and provides 
good level access. It is proposed that the polling station be relocated to the Newton Room at the Guildhall Arts 
Centre.

Isaac Newton Ward

Consultation Feedback Councillor Bob Adams, District Ward Member – no issues with current polling 
stations in the Ward.

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

INA1 Colsterworth 1230

IND1 Gunby & 
Stainby

95 Colsterworth Village Hall, Old 
Post Lane, Colsterworth

INB1 Easton 58

INJ1 Stoke Rochford 88
St. Andrew & St. Mary’s 
Church, Village Hall, Stoke 
Rochford

INC1 Great Ponton 269

INE1 Little Ponton & 
Stroxton

112
Great Ponton Village Centre, 
Path via Archers Way, Great 
Ponton

INF1 North Witham 101 North Witham Village Hall

ING1 Skillington 232 The Methodist Chapel, 
Skillington

Grantham & 
Stamford

INH1 South Witham
1042 Children’s Centre, South 

Witham Primary School, 
Water Lane

No change

34



Lincrest Ward

Consultation feedback Welby Parish Council – supports the proposal to relocate the Welby polling station 
back to The Crown and Anchor Public House.

Constituency Polling 
District Parish Polling station 

electorate Current Polling Place Proposal

LNA1 Boothby Pagnell 95
LNB1 Bitchfield and 

Bassingthorpe
75 Boothby Pagnell Village Hall, 

Ponton Road, Boothby Pagnell

LNC1 Braceby & 
Sapperton

41

LNJ1 Ropsley & 
Humby

531
Ropsley Village Hall, Braceby 
Road, Ropsley

LND1 Heydour 205 Heydour Parish Hall, Green 
Lane, Aisby

LNE1 Ingoldsby 196
LNF1 Lenton, Keisby & 

Osgodby
90 Ingoldsby Village Hall, Main 

Street, Ingoldsby

LNG1 Old Somerby 160 The Conservatory, Fox & 
Hounds Public House, 
Grantham Road, Old Somerby

LNH1 Pickworth 113 Pickworth Village Hall, Village 
Street, Pickworth

No change

Grantham & 
Stamford

LNK1 Welby 125 St Bartholomew’s Church, 
Church Lane, Welby

Crown & 
Anchor, Main 
Street, Welby

NOTE : 
Polling district LNK1 (Welby Parish) - The last designated polling station for the Welby Parish was the Crown and 
Anchor Public House.  Following closure of the Crown and Anchor in 2017, the polling station was relocated to the 
St Bartholomew’s Church.  The Crown and Anchor has now reopened and will again be able to offer premises for 
use as a polling station. It is proposed that the polling station be returned to the Crown and Anchor Public House.

Loveden Heath Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Bob Sampson, District Ward Member – Supports current polling station 
arrangements, no reason for any change of venues for the May 2019 Elections

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

LVA2 Caythorpe 876 Caythorpe & Frieston Village 
Hall, High Street, Caythorpe

LVB2 Fenton 98
LVE2 Stubton 147

Stubton Village Hall, Fenton 
Road, Stubton

LVC2 Fulbeck 361 Fulbeck Village Hall, Lincoln 
Road, Fulbeck

Sleaford & 
North 

Hykeham

LVD2 Hough-on-the-Hill 269 All Saints Church, High Road, 
Hough-on-the-Hill

No change

35



Market and West Deeping Ward

Consultation Feedback West Deeping Parish Council - Village Hall remains the appropriate location for West 
Deeping voters.

Constituency
Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

MDA3 Market Deeping – 
new ‘Mill Field’ 
Parish Ward

1875 The Green School, 
Church Street, Market 
Deeping

MDB3 Market Deeping – 
new ‘Mill Field’ 
Parish Ward

1995 Deeping Community 
Centre, 2 Douglas Road, 
Market Deeping

MDC3 Market Deeping – 
new ‘Swine’s 
Meadow’ Parish 
Ward

414 Market Deeping Scout 
and Guide Hall, 
Wellington Way, Market 
Deeping

South Holland 
& the 

Deepings

MDD3 West Deeping 183 West Deeping Village 
Hall, King Street, West 
Deeping

No change

Morton Ward

Consultation Feedback None 

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

MRA1 Morton & Hanthorpe 
– new ‘Morton’ Parish 
Ward

1104 Morton Village Hall, High 
Street, Morton

Grantham & 
Stamford

MRB1 Morton & Hanthorpe 
– new ‘Hanthorpe’ 
Parish Ward

555 Morton Village Hall, High 
Street, Morton

No change

Peascliffe & Ridgeway Ward

Consultation feedback County Councillor Alexander Maughan for Hough Division – Supports the change 
to the Great Gonerby polling station.

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

PCA2 Ancaster 1053 Ancaster Village Hall, 
Ermine Street, Ancaster

PCB2 Barkston 333
PCF2 Honington 90
PCH2 Syston 101

Barkston & Syston Village 
Hall, Main Road, Barkston

PCC2 Belton & Manthorpe 
(‘Belton’ Parish Ward)

141 Manthorpe Playgroup Hall, 
Low Road, Manthorpe

PCD2 Carlton Scroop 126
PCG2 Normanton 76

Carlton Scroop Village Hall, 
Newark Lane, Carlton 
Scroop

No change

Sleaford & 
North 

Hykeham

PCE2 Great Gonerby 
(‘Gonerby’ Parish 
Ward)

1327 St. Sebastain’s C of E 
Primary School, Great 
Gonerby

Great Gonerby 
Social Club, 8 
High Street

NOTE: 
Polling district PCE2 (Great Gonerby) –Reports have been received at recent elections that the access door to 
the current polling station at St Sebastian’s School is difficult to open.  The Great Gonerby Social Club, which is 
situated close to the school, has been considered as a possible alternative.  The Social Club offers good facilities 
with level access and a large car park.  It is proposed that the polling station be relocated to the Great Gonerby 
Social Club.

36



Stamford All Saints Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Mike Exton, District Ward Member – advised that the Stamford Rugby 
Clubhouse will be demolished when the new clubhouse is built (see note below)

Constituency Polling 
District Parish Polling station 

electorate Current Polling Place Proposal

SAA1 1599 Children’s Centre, 
Bluecoat Primary 
School, Green Lane, 
Stamford

SAB1

Stamford (‘All 
Saints North’ 
Parish Ward) 1032 Malcolm Sargent 

Primary School, 
Empingham Road, 
Stamford

No change

Grantham & 
Stamford

SAC1 Stamford (‘All 
Saints South’ 
Parish Ward)

561 Danish Invader Public 
House, Empingham 
Road, Stamford

Stamford Rugby 
Club, Hambleton 
Road, Stamford

NOTE:
Polling District SAC1 –  After the 2017 County Council elections, the function room at the Danish Invader public 
house became unavailable.  At the June 2017 General Election a portable building was sited in the pub car park.  
For the Stamford St John’s Ward by-election held in March 2018, the polling station was located at the Stamford 
Rugby Club.  During the consultation, concern was raised that the Rugby Club would be rebuilt in the near future 
and may not be available. Confirmation has since been received that the current premises will continue to be 
available for the 2019 elections and until such a time as a replacement is built. The Rugby Club offers good facilities 
and it is proposed that the polling station be relocated to the Rugby Club for future elections.

Stamford St. George’s Ward

Consultation feedback
Councillor Brenda Sumner, District Ward Member –Requested that consideration 
be given to electors living at the bottom of Recreation Road being able to vote at a 
more convenient polling station instead of the current polling station at the bottom of 
Drift Road.  

Constituency Polling 
District Parish Polling station 

electorate Current Polling Place Proposal

SGA1 1276 (proposal to 
transfer approx. 187 
electors to SGB1 – 
proposed total for this 
polling district: 1089)

Stamford Free Church, 
Kesteven Road

SGB1 697 (proposal to transfer 
approx. 461  electors from 
SGA1 and SGC1 – 
proposed total for this 
polling district: 1158)

Essex Road 
Communal Room

Grantham & 
Stamford

SGC1

Stamford (‘St. 
George’s’ 
Parish Ward)

1364 (proposal to 
transfer approx. 274 
electors to SGB1 – 
proposed total for this 
polling district: 1090)

Edmonds Close 
Communal Room

No change to 
polling place (see 

note below)

NOTE: 
A response received during the consultation period requested that consideration be given to voters in Recreation 
Ground Road being able to vote at a more convenient polling station.  To address this, the proposal amends the 
internal polling district boundaries to relocate parts of polling districts SGA1 and SGC1 (as shown at Map 2 in 
Appendix 2).  This would involve a change of polling station for approximately 461 electors registered in this area.  
The proposal would allow 187 electors who currently vote at Stamford Free Church and 274 electors who currently 
vote at Edmonds Close Communal Room, to vote at Essex Road Communal Room, which is located closer than 
their current polling place.

37



Stamford St. John’s Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Damian Evans, District Ward Member – supports the change proposed 
for part of Stamford St. John's Ward
Councillor David Taylor, District Ward Member - Happy with the existing locations 
and advised that the Rugby Club would be demolished and rebuilt during 2019. A 
suitable alternative might be the bridge club or bowling club which are very nearby. 
(See note below relating to the Rugby Club) 

Constituency Polling 
District Parish Polling station 

electorate Current Polling Place Proposal

SJA1 2535 Malcolm Sargent Primary 
School, Empingham Road, 
Stamford

No change
Grantham & 

Stamford

SJB1

Stamford 
(‘St. John’s’ 
Parish Ward)

871 Danish Invader Public House, 
Empingham Road, Stamford

Stamford Rugby 
Club, Hambleton 
Road, Stamford

NOTE:
Polling District SJB1 –  After the 2017 County Council elections, the function room at the Danish Invader public 
house became unavailable.  At the June 2017 General Election a portable building was sited in the pub car park.  
For the Stamford St John’s Ward by-election held in March 2018, the polling station was located at the Stamford 
Rugby Club.  During the consultation, concern was raised that the Rugby Club would be rebuilt in the near future 
and may not be available. Confirmation has since been received that the current premises will continue to be 
available for the 2019 elections and until such a time as a replacement is built. The Rugby Club offers good facilities 
and it is proposed that the polling station be relocated to the Rugby Club for future elections.

Stamford St. Mary’s Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Matthew Lee, District Ward Member – Suggested that a new polling 
station should be found for the parts of Stamford on the south side of the river, 
St. Martin’s Church was suggested as it is central to that part of the built up area and it 
is accessible to wheelchair users via the Park Lane entrance and has stepped access 
from High Street St. Martin’s. He added that while other buildings are available in the 
area, they are commercial and rental would be extremely high, so the Church is the 
preference.  

Constituency Polling 
District Parish Polling station 

electorate Current Polling Place Proposal

SMA1 607 Stamford Arts Centre, 27 St 
Mary’s Street, Stamford

SMB1 1268 
(Proposed transfer of 
406 electors to new 
polling district SME1, 
revised total : 862)

Stamford Arts Centre, 27 St 
Mary’s Street, Stamford

SMC1 840 Clare Close Communal Room, 
Clare Close, Stamford

SMD1 272 Stamford Arts Centre, 27 St 
Mary’s Street, Stamford

Grantham & 
Stamford

SME1 – 
proposed 
new 
polling 
district

Stamford 
(current ‘St. 
Mary’s’ 
Parish 
Ward)

406 Stamford Arts Centre, 27 St 
Mary’s Street, Stamford – see 
note below

No change 
(see note below)

NOTE:
St Martin’s Church has been considered as an additional venue for voters resident in the area south of the river; 
these voters currently vote at the Stamford Arts Centre, St Mary’s Street, Stamford.  The Burghley Chapel, 
accessed from the rear of the church was identified as the possible polling station location.  Although the Burghley 
Chapel has direct level access and level footpaths leading to the entrance, the width of the access door when open 
was found to be less than the recommended minimum for accommodating wheelchairs and motorised wheelchairs; 
In addition it was identified that voters arriving at the High Street St Martin’s entrance who were unable to access 
via the steps would need to travel a considerable distance via Barnack Road and Park Lane to the Chapel 
entrance.  

A room at The George Hotel Business Centre has also been considered as an alternative venue however the costs 
associated with the hire were prohibitive. 38



The provision of an additional polling station in the Stamford St Mary’s Ward will continue to be explored.  To 
facilitate a future additional polling station in this area, a revision of the polling district boundaries is necessary to 
create a separate polling district for the area side south of the river. It is proposed that a new polling district SME1 
be created for the area south side of the river currently included in polling district SMB1.

It is proposed that the polling station for this area remain at the Stamford Arts Centre at the present time 
and that the provision of an additional polling station in this part of the Ward be further explored and 
implemented if a suitable venue is found.

Toller Ward

Councillor Mike King, District Ward Member – Supports the use of the current polling stations in the ward and 
added that there are no better known or more convenient alternatives.  

Constituency Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

TLA1 Billingborough 899 Billingborough Village Hall, 
Chapel Street, Billingborough

TLB1 Folkingham 519 Folkingham Village Hall, Market 
Place, Folkingham

Grantham & 
Stamford

TLC1 Horbling 295 Horbling Meeting Room, Spring 
Lane, Horbling

No change

Viking Ward

Consultation feedback Councillor Paul Wood, District Ward Member - supports moving the Polling 
Station to the Village Hall in Claypole. Reports of previous difficulties regarding 
access through the kissing gate at the existing location at the school. This move 
to the village hall would be a more central location and with a temp ramp would 
be fully accessible.
County Councillor Alexander Maughan for Hough Division – Supports the 
change to the Claypole polling station from the school to the village hall.
Claypole Parish Council – Claypole Parish Council supports the polling station 
being relocated to the village hall mainly due to it being central to the village and 
with better facilities.
Marianne Overton, Lincolnshire Independents – The party supports moving 
the Polling Station to the Village Hall in Claypole.  Previous difficulties have been 
reported regarding access through the kissing gate at the existing location at the 
school. This move to the village hall would be a more central location and with a 
temporary ramp would be fully accessible.
Ian Fytche, Acting Returning Officer for Sleaford and North Hykeham 
constituency - For the Viking Ward, proposes that the polling station should be 
relocated to the Claypole Village Hall, as it is centrally located and avoids any 
impact upon the School.

Constituency
Polling 
District Parish

Polling 
station 

electorate
Current Polling Place Proposal

VKA2 Claypole 918 Claypole New Hall, Claypole CE 
Primary School, School Lane

Claypole Village 
Hall, Main Street, 
Claypole

VKB2 Foston 347 Foston Village Hall, Church Street, 
Foston

VKC2 Hougham 125
VKE2 Marston 268

Hougham & Marston Village Hall, 
Frinkley Lane, Hougham

VKD2 Long 
Bennington

1411 Long Bennington Village Hall, Main 
Road, Long Bennington

VKF2 Westborough & 
Dry 
Doddington – 
Dry 
Doddington

156 Dry Doddington Village Hall, Main 
Street, Dry Doddington

Sleaford & 
North 

Hykeham

VKG2 Westborough & 108 Westborough Village Hall, Town 

No change

39



Dry 
Doddington – 
Westborough

Street, Westborough

NOTE:
Polling district VKA2 (Claypole parish) - The gated entrance to the school hall currently used as the polling 
station has potential access issues.  The Claypole Village Hall has been considered as a possible alternative.  The 
Village Hall offers good facilities and a large car park.  Although the main entrance has steps, an alternative 
entrance is available with a temporary ramp.  It is proposed that the polling station be relocated to the Claypole 
Village Hall.

Additional responses received:

South Lincs Green Party:  Nothing further to add to the draft proposals  

Ian Fytche, Acting Returning Officer for the Sleaford and North Hykeham Constituency: Supports all proposals relating 
to the Sleaford and North Hykeham Constituency and proposes that the polling station should be relocated to the 
Claypole Village Hall, as it is centrally located and avoids any impact upon the School.  

40



LIST OF STREETS FOR PROPOSED 
POLLING DISTRICTS
BOURNE AUSTERBY WARD

BNA1
Abbots Close
Austerby
Austerby Close
Bedehouse Bank
Bishops Close
Burchnell Gardens
Cherry Holt Road
Coggles Causeway
Darnes Close

Dorchester Avenue
Drummond Road
Eastgate
Essex Way
Grosvenor Avenue
Heathcote Road
Old Horse Chestnut 
Lane
Old Oak Place

Owen Court
Potters Close
Salisbury Gardens
Shillaker Court
Shipley Close
South Fen Road
South Road (part)
Southfields
Spalding Road (part)

St. Paul’s Gardens
Tannery Close
The Slipe
Tunnel Bank Road
Victoria Place
Wakes Close
Wexford Close
Willoughby Road
Worth Court

BNB1
Aintree Way
Ascot Close
Aykroft
Badger Lane
Bath Close
Betjeman Close
Bluebell Way
Brock Crescent
Buttercup Drive
Campion Way
Coleridge Place
Coltsfoot Drive
Coppice Way
Cornflower Way
Cowslip Crescent
Cross Lane
Daisy Court

Dog Rose Drive
Doncaster Close
Eagle Road
Elsea Park Way
Epsom Way
Falcon Court
Falcon Way
Finn Close
Gilpin Close
Goodwood Drive
Greenacres Drive
Hawk Crescent
Heartsease Way
Heather Court
Holloway Avenue
Iris Gardens
Kempton Road

Kestrel Drive
Leytonstone Lane
Marigold Avenue
Mckenzie Court
Merlin Close
Nemarket Avenue
Osprey Close
Peregrine Place
Periwinkle way
Pimpernel Walk
Pond Lane
Poppy Place
Quayside East
Quayside West
Russell Way
Sandown Drive
Setts Green

South Road (part)
Speedwell Drive
Spindlewood Drive
Springbank Drive
Teasel Drive
Tennyson Drive
The Gables
The Pollards
The Yarde
Thirsk Close
Tilia Way
Tipler Court
Tully Close
Water Lane
Water-Lily Way
Windle Drive
Wordsworth Grove

BNC1
Cecil Close
Churchill Avenue
Great Northern 
Gardens

Harvey Close
Ivatt Close
Manor Lane
Ostler Drive

South Street (part)
St. Peter’s Road
West Road (part)
West Street (part)

Westwood Drive

BND1
Catterick Road 
Cheltenham Court
Chepstow Drive
Fontwell Park Drive
Great Leighs
Haydock Park Drive
Hexham Avenue

Huntingdon Place
Kelso Drive
Lingfield Park
Ludlow Close
Market Rasen Drive
Musselburgh Way
Nene Close

Newbury Crescent
Newton Abbot Way
Plumpton Chase
Southwell Way
Taunton Road
The Gables
The Ridings

Warwick Close
Welland Drive
West Road (part)
Wincanton Way
Windsor Court
Witham Crescent

BOURNE EAST WARD

BNJ1
Arakan Way
Arnhem Way
Barkston Close
Briar Walk
Bryony Gardens

Charles Close
Cheriton Park
Edinburgh Crescent
Galletly Close
Kingsway

Kohima Close
Linden Rise
Lonsdale Grove
Mandalay Drive
Maple Gardens

Mill Drove
Mountbatten Way
North Road (evens)
Northfields
Oosterbeek Close41



Pegasus Grove
Princes Court
Queens Road

Rangoon Way
Richardson Close
Stephenson Way

The Brambles
The Croft
The Spindles

Wingate Way

BNK1
Abbey Road
Alexandra Terraces
Ancaster Road
Baldwin Grove 
Blackthorn Way
Brooklands Way
Browning Court
Church View

Church Walk 
Delaine Close
George Street
Granby Court
Harrington Street 
Harvest Court
Hereward Street
Manning Road

Meadow Close
Meadow Drove
Meadowgate
Norman Mews
North Street (part)
Nowells Lane
Recreation Road
Shelsey Walsh Rise

Silverstone Road
South Street (part)
Spalding Road (part)
Stanton Close
Stroud Close
The Corn Mill
Wendover Mews

BNL1 (DYKE)
Barnes Drove
Chapel View

Charlie’s Yard
Dyke Drove

Main Road
Meadow Drove

Redmile Close
Stubbs Close

BNM1 (TWENTY)
Dyke Drove
Fosters Drove

Milking Nook Drove
North Drove

Spalding Road (part)
Station Road

The Spinney

BOURNE WEST WARD

BNR1
Akeman Close
Beaufort Drive
Beech Avenue (167-
171)
Berkeley Drive
Brackley Close
Broadlands Avenue
Broadway Close
Burghley Court
Burghley Street

Carhome Close
Cawthorpe
Chistophers Lane
Dere Close
Elm Terrace
Ermine Close
Exeter Court
Exeter Street
Foxley Court
Gladstone Street

Hamilton Close
Hawthorn Road
Lodge Road
Marquess Court
Middleton Gardens
North Road (odd nos)
North Street 
Orchard Close
Rochester Court
Saxon Way (74-78)

St. Gilberts Road
Stanley Street
Stone Close 
Stretham Way
The Retreat
Waterside Close
West Street (12-16)
Wetherby Close
Wherrys Lane
Wood View

BNS1
Ash Grove
Beech Avenue
Bramley Close
Cedar Drive
Chestnut Way
Edenham Road
Edwin Gardens
Elder Close
Fir Avenue
Forest Avenue
Godiva Crescent

Godwin Close
Hawthorn Road (1-34)
Hazelwood Drive
Holly Drive
Home Close
Jasmine Close
Kingsley Avenue
Laburnum Close
Larch Close
Lavendar Way
Leofric Avenue

Lilac Close
Lodge Road
Mercia Gardens
Oak Crescent
Pinewood Close
Poplar Crescent
Rowan Way
Saxon Way
Sharpes Close
Stanley Street (40-42)
Sycamore Close

Thurstan Close
Torfrida Drive
Viking Close
Watling Close
West Road (20-48)
Westbourne Park
Willow Drive
Wisteria Way
Woodland Avenue
Yew Tree Close

BNT1
Aveland Close
Coriander Drive
Exeter Close
Exeter Gardens

Exeter Street
Holland Close
Kesteven Way
Lindsey Close

Manor Court
Rosemary Gardens
Saffron Walk
Tarragon Way

Thyme Avenue
West Road (2-18)
West Street (28-96)
Westminster Lane

42



DEEPING ST. JAMES WARD

DJA3
Allen Close
Blackthorn Close
Bluebells
Bryony Way
Burchnall Close
Buttercup Court
Campion Drive
Cowslip Drive
Crowson Way
Curlew Walk
Douglas Road
Elm Close

Fen Field Mews
Feneley Close
Foxgloves
Fraser Close
Groom Close
Horsegate
Horsegate Farm Close
Kesteven Close
Knight Close
Lady Margarets 
Avenue
Lark Rise

Linchfield Close
Linchfield Road
Linnet Close
Marigolds
Meadow Road
Panton Close
Pawlett Close
Pendlebury Drive
Primroses
Sewell Close
Sorrel Close
Speedwell Court

St Vincent’s Close
Swallow Walk
Sweet Close
Swift Close
Teasles
Thackers Way
The Brambles
The Lees
Towning Close
Wade Park Avenue

DJB3
Abel Close
Apple Tree Close
Ascendale
Back Lane
Bell Lane
Benedict Court
Braeburn Road
Bridge Street
Broadgate Lane
Brownlow Drive
Burghley Close
Cartmel Court
Church Street
Churchfield Close
Churchgate

Cranmore Drove
Crowfields
Crowland Road
Darbyshire Close
Eastgate
Ermine Way
Frognall
Hall Meadow Road
Hereward Way
High Street
Holly Way
Horsegate
Laxton Close
Lindsey Court
Locks Close

Manor House Court
Manor Way
Millfield Road
New Row
Old Priory Farm
Orchard Close
Park Estate
Park Road
Priory Close
Riverbank Close
River Lane
Rycroft Avenue
Rycroft Close
Spalding Road
St James Mews

Station Road
Stephens Way
Stowgate Road
The Parslins
Tooley Way
Towngate East
Tryon Court
Tudor Place
Tyghes Close
Waterton Close
Welland Way
Windmill Close

GRANTHAM ARNOLDFIELD WARD

GAA1
Alnwick Way
Arundel Drive
Balmoral Drive
Bamburgh Close
Barrowby Road 
(evens)
Beaumaris Way
Berkeley Avenue
Carmarthen Close

Conisbrough Close
Corfe Close
Dover Close
Dunster Close
Grimsthorpe Close
Hadleigh Close
Helmsley Road
Hever Close
Jameston Close

Knaresborough Drive
Lauriston Road
Lewes Avenue
Lindisfarne Way
Ludlow Gardens
Monmouth Way
Mount Street
Newark View
North Parade (odds)

Oakham Close
Penrhyn Way
Peveril Place
Riber Close
Richmond Drive
Scarborough Close
St. Mawes Way
Tamworth Close
Tattershall Close

GAB1
Applewood Drive
Arnold Avenue
Arnoldfield Court
Ashley Drive
Beaumont Drive
Bell Close
Birchwood Close
Bramblewood Close 
Briarwood Close
Broomwood Close
Cambrian Close
Cedarwood Close
Cherrywood Drive

Cheviot Close
Chiltern Close
Cliffe Road
Cochran Close
Cotswold Drive
Gonerby Court
Gonerby Hill Foot
Gonerby Road
Hazelwood Drive
Hollywood Close
Kimberley Terrace
Kings Gardens
Ladysmith Terrace

Lilacwood Drive
Lynden Avenue
Malim Way
Malting Cottages
Maltings Lane
Malvern Drive
Maplewood Close
Mendip Close
New Row
Ogden Square
Orangewood Close
Orchard Close
Ostler Close

Palmwood Close
Peachwood Close
Pinewood Drive
Pretoria Road
Rowanwood Drive
Stephenson Avenue
Swallows Close
The Haverlands
Vale Road
Vernon Avenue
Vivian Close
Webster Way

43



GAC1
Brecon Close
Brendon Close
Cotswold Drive (1,2-6)

Grampian Way
Malvern Drive (No.2)

Mendip Close (2-4, 15-
17)
Pennine Way

GRANTHAM BARROWBY GATE WARD

GBA1
Barrowby Gate (52-84, 
83-149)
Barrowby Road (odds)
Birmingham Close
Blackburn Close
Bristol Close
Campbell Close
Carlisle Close
Chelmsford Drive
Chester Gardens
Chichester Close 

Coventry Close
Derby Close
Ely Way
Exeter Close
Gloucester Road
Greenhill Road
Guildford Close
Hereford Way
Ipswich Gardens
Leicester Grove
Lichfield Close

Lincoln Close
Manchester Way
Newcastle Close
Norwich Way
Peterborough Close
Pilgrim Gardens
Portsmouth Close
Ripon Close
Robertson Road
Rochester Drive
Salisbury Close

Southwell Close
St. Alban’s Close
St. Edmunds Court
Thorneydene Gardens
Truro Close
Tyndal Road
Warwick Close
Wells Close
Westminster Way
Winchester Road
Worcester Road

GBB1
Barrowby Gate (1-21, 
2-14)
Barrowby Gate (23-81, 
20-50) *
Becketts Close
Brading Avenue
Bradford Close *
Coles Way (1-23, 2-34)

Coles Way (25-47, 36-
72) *
Cowes Road
Durham Close *
Dysart Road (50-400 
evens)
High Meadow
Kingston Avenue
Lamplight Square *

Neals Crescent *
Newport Avenue
Ryde Avenue
Shanklin Drive
Shorwell Close
Sportsmans Row
St. Helens Close
Valley Road
Ventnor Avenue

Wakefield Close *
Westbourne Place 
Wroxall Drive
Yarmouth Avenue
York Way *

*     From GBA1

GRANTHAM EARLESFIELD WARD

GEA1
Aire Road
Ambergate Walk
Avon Close
Beechcroft Road
Calder Close
Derwent Road
Dexter Avenue

Dysart Road (113-355 
odds)
Earlesfield Lane (48-94 
evens)
East Avenue
Foston Road
Goodliff Road
Heathfield Road

Hill View Close
Hillingford Way
Hodder Close
Marlstone Place
Medway Avenue
Meres Road
Oakleigh Road
The Avenue

The Drive
The Grove
Trent Road (301-351 
odds)
Warmington Avenue
West Avenue

GEB1
Chestnut Grove
Clyde Court
Colne Court
Devon Cout
Earlesfield Lane (19-
53)
Falcon Court
Gannet Court
Goodliff Close

Goodliff Road (117-159)
Gresley Court
Harby Close
Hawthorne Court
Hickling Close
Hornsby Road
Ivatt Court
Kestrel Court
Kinoulton Court

Larch Close
Lymn Court
Mallard Court
Muston Road
Nene Court
Redmile Walk
Shaw Road
Stathern Walk
Stirling Court

Stour Court
Sturrock Court
Swingbridge Road
Sycamore Court
Tamar Court
Thames Road
Trent Road (1-15, 91-
93 odds)
Welland Court

GEC1
Alexandra Road
Barnwell Terrace

Beck Gardens
Earlesfield Lane (part)

Harlaxton Road (38-
370 evens)

44



GRANTHAM HARROWBY WARD

GHA1
Canberra Crescent
Canterbury Close
Christchurch Road
Dickens Road
Dryden Close

Edinburgh Road
Elliot Close
Goldsmith Road
Hamilton Road (1-61 
odds)

Harrowby Lane (139-
193 odds)
John Foster Close
Melbourne Road
Pickworth Close

Princess Drive (99-141 
odds)
Purcell Close
Queensway (120-234 
evens, 57-193 odds)

GHB1
Acorn Close
Almond Grove
Ash Grove
Belton Lane (part)

Cornwall Close
Elsie Davies Close
Granta Crescent
Green Lane 

Hamilton Road (2-16 
evens)
Harrowby Mill Lane
Hobart Road

Mill Close
Princess Drive
Queensway
Waterside Drive

GHC1
Belmont Grove
Burns Close
Byron Avenue
Central Place
Chaucer Close

Ermine Close
Harrowby Lane (84-
196)
Keats Avenue
Kipling Close

Moat Walk
Rossetti Court
Shakespeare Avenue
Shelley Avenue
Tennyson Avenue

Uplands Drive
Wordsworth Close

GHD1
Belton Avenue
Belton Gardens
Belton Grove
Belton Lane (part)

Bromley Gardens
Cottesmore Close
Elm Grove
Harrowby Close

Harrowby Lane (part)
Lime Grove
Pippin Gardens
The Orchards

Tyson Close
Willoughby Gardens

GRANTHAM SPRINGFIELD WARD

GSA1
Arlington Gardens
Atlantic Place
Bradley Drive
Burrows Close
Garnet Mews

Hardwicke Close
Harlaxton Road (67-
197 odds)
Hudson Way
Huntingtower Road

Mayflower Mews
Ormonde Close
Pacey Way
Porter Square

Springfield Road (68-
112)
Tilling Close
Wilks Road

GSB1
Bolsover Road
Brick Kiln Place
Buckminster Gardens
Caravan Site
Caunt Road
Cressbrook Road
Cromford Court

Elvaston Court
Eyam Way
Haddon Road
Harris Way
Hartington Close
Hathersage Close
Kedleston Road

Littleover Way
Scarsdale Way
Springfield Road (3-
113 & The Lindens)
Spitalgate Hill
Stamford Street
Sudbury Road

Tissington Road
Victoria Street
Walton Gardens
Wessington Court
Wingfield Court
Yeldersley Court

GSC1 
Belvoir Avenue
Cheveley Park
Denton Avenue
Denton Close

Gorse Lane
Harlaxton Road (263-
379 odds)
Hunt Lea Avenue

Kitty Briggs Lane
Montgomery Close
Rosemary Crescent
Welwyn Close

Westside Avenue
Wyville Road

GRANTHAM ST. VINCENT’S WARD

GVA1
Aviary Close
Gorse Rise
Gorse Road

Hill Avenue
Jubilee Avenue
Laburnum Close

New Beacon Road
Regency Gardens
Sharpe Road

Signal Road

45



GVB1
Barrack Square
Beacon Lane
Bellwood Gardens
Brisson Close
Brittain Drive
Garden Close

Hall Drive
Hill Avenue
Kenwick Drive
Kintore Drive
New Beacon Road
Range Road

Riverside Walk
Sandon Close
Sandon Road
Southlands Drive
St Catherine’s Road
Stonebridge Road

Turnor Crescent
Twyford Gardens
Woodlands Drive
Wyndham Close

GVC1 
Blenheim Way
Bridge End Road
Bridge Street
Cecil Street
Cold Harbour Lane
Croft Drive

Dudley Road
Granville Street
Halls Hill
Harrowby Road
Hillside Crescent
Hillside Drive

Lancaster Gardens
Oakhurst Close
St. Anne’s Street
St. Catherine’s Road
St. Vincent’s Road
Stonemasons Court

Stuart Street
Toll Bar Road
Wellington Drive

GVD1 
Brewery Hill
Cambridge Street
Clifton Court
College Street
Commercial Road
Dixon Place
Elton Place
Eton Street

Fletcher Street
Grantley Street
Harrow Street
Launder Terrace
London Road
Newton Street
Norton Street
Oxford Street

Queen Street
Railway Terrace
Rathkerr Court
Rugby Court
Rycroft Street
St. Catherine’s Road
St. John’s Court
Station Road

Station Road East
The Waterfront
Trinity Mews
University Court
Welby Everard Court
Wharf Road
William Street

GVE1 
Albert Street
Anson Close
Bridge End Grove (1-
37 odds, 2-46 evens)
Bridge End Road (9A-
61 odds, 22B-216 
evens)

Edward Street
Fircroft
Holly Close
Houghton Road
London Road
Meadow End
Mill Drive

Mill House Drive
Nottingham Terrace
Primrose Way
Regents Court
Saltersford Grove (2-6 
evens)
Somerby Grove

South Parade
Witham Place

GVF1 - LONDONTHORPE & HARROWBY WITHOUT – BRIDGE END PARISH WARD
Bridge End Grove (37a 
– 88)
Bridge End Road (201-
205 odds, 220-224 
evens)

Eastwood Drive
Hillside Drive
Meadow End
Oakhurst Close 
Pasture Close

Saltersford Grove (1-
29 odds, 8 -18 evens)
Saltersford Road (1-
52)
Somerby Grove

GRANTHAM ST. WULFRAM’S WARD

GWA1
Abbeydale Crescent
Bishopdale Road
Dale Road
Darley Dale Crescent
Dovedale Close
Eskdale Road
Farndale Crescent
Hatcliffe Close

Hawksdale Close
Highcliffe Road
Kingscliffe Road
Langdale Crescent
Langford Gardens
Longcliffe Road
Manthorpe Road
Meadowdale Crescent

Mossdale Close
Northcliffe Road
Oakdale Close
Peascliffe Drive
Progress Way
Ravendale Close
Redcliffe Road
Rushcliffe Road

Sandcliffe Road
Teesdale Road
Waterside Drive
Wensleydale Close
Westerdale Road
Willowdale Court

GWB1
Albion Place
Albion Road
Albion Street
Alford Street
Bluegate
Broad Street

Brook Street
Brownlow Street
Castlegate
Chambers Street
Church Street
Elmer Street North

Gladstone Terrace
Kesteven Court
Lodge Way
Manners Street
Manthorpe Road
New Street

North Parade
Park Road
Premier Court
Prospect Place
Redcross Street
Sidney Street46



Slate Mill Place
St. Wulfram’s Court

Swinegate
The Slate Mill

Vine Street
Watergate

Welby Gardens

GWC1 
Agnes Street
Avenue Road
Castlegate
Drakes Court
East Street

Elmer Street North
Elmer Street South
Finkin Street
George Street
Grove End Road

High Street
Montanari Court
Riverside
Russell Read Almhouses
Vine Street

Wallwork Mews
Welham Street

GWD1 
Bath Street
Dysart Road
Great Northern Court 
Greyfriars

Guildhall Street
Market Place
North Street
Priory Court

St. Peter’s Hill
The Grange
Union Street
Watergate

Welby Street
Westgate
Wharf Road

GWE2 (BELTON & MANTHORPE - ROSEDALE PARISH WARD)
Baysdale Grove
Borrowdale Way

Glaisdale Gardens
Grizedale Close

Rosedale Drive
Rydale Close

MARKET DEEPING

MDA3
Althorpe Close
Belton Close
Belvoir Close
Bridge Foot
Burnside Avenue
Cedar Close
Chatsworth Close
Church Street
Corner Farm
Cromwell Way
Deene Close
Dovecote Road
Forge Court

Green Walk
Grimsthorpe Close
Halfleet
Hall Farm
Holland Close
Kesteven Drive
Lamport Close
Lime Tree Avenue
Lincoln Close
Lindsey Avenue
Maxey Close
Meadway
Millfield Road

Osbourne Way
Park Drive
Petworth Close
Prestland
Rockingham Close
Sandringham Way
St Guthlac Avenue
Stamford Close
Stamford Road
Tattershall Drive
The Avenue
The Blades
The Grove

The Hawthornes
The Orchard
The Paddock
The Spinney
The Woodlands
Towngate East (even nos.)
Towngate West
Vergette Court
Wellingtonia Gardens
Wheatsheaf Court
Woburn Close
Woodcroft Close

MDB3
Baron Mews
Baroness Way
Beaufort Avenue
Beech Close
Black Prince Avenue
Bramley Road
Charter Avenue
Cherry Grove
Chestnut Way
Church Street
Clover Road
Countess Road
Courtfields
Curlew Walk

Dixons Road
Douglas Road
Duchess Drive
Duke Meadows
Earl Mews
Eastfield
Elm Close
Florence Way
Glebe View
Godsey Crescent
Godsey Lane
Hawthorn Close
High Street
Joan Wake Close

John Eve Way
Jubilee Drive
Kingsgate
Lady Margarets 
Avenue
Lark Rise
Market Place
Meadow Road
Nightingales
Oak Grove
Princess Grove
Queens Avenue
Robin Close
Rosemary Avenue

Squire Close
Still Close
Thackers Way
The Granary
The Meadows
The Pasture
Thyme Avenue
Viscount Way
Wade Park Avenue
Willoughby Avenue
Windsor Gardens
Wren Close

MDC3 (SWINE’S MEADOW PARISH WARD FROM 2019)
Anson Court
Cross Road
Lancaster Way

Northfield Road
Northfield Road East
Shackleton Close

Six Score Road
Spalding Road (part)
The Acorns

Towngate East (odd nos)
Wellington Way

MDD3 (WEST DEEPING)
Church Lane
King Street

Stamford Road
The Lane

The Row

47



STAMFORD ALL SAINTS WARD

SAA1
Airedale Road
Ancaster Road
Andrew Road
Anne Road
Blashfield Close
Burghley Road
Cambridge Road
Charles Road
Churchill Road
Darwin Close

Downing Crescent
Edinburgh Road
Edward Road
Eleanor Close
Elizabeth Road
Emmanuel Road
Fitzwilliam Road
Gainsborough Road
Girton Way

Green Lane (10-52 
evens)
Keble Close
Keble Court
Lambeth Walk
Little Casterton Road 
(1-55 odds)
Mountbatten Avenue
Newham Road
Oxford Road

Pembroke Road
Peterhouse Close
Radcliffe Road (part)
Sandringham Close
Selwyn Road
Somerville Road
Trinity Road
William Court
Windsor Close
Zara Court

SAB1
Audas Place
Banks Crescent
Barnwell Road
Belvoir Close
Beverley Gardens
Bradshaw Close
Burgess Road

Casterton Road (52-
198)
Chatsworth Road
Clapton Close
Collins Avenue
Elgar Way
Elton Close

Haddon Road
Jackson Way
Laughton Drive
Little Casterton Road 
(2-56)
Mason Drive
Ravel Close

Rockingham Road
Roman Mill Gardens
Ross Drive
Walcot Way
Waverley Gardens
Waverley Place
Winterton Close

SAC1
Argyll Way
Burns Road
Casterton Road (part)
Empingham Road (1-
105 & Windmill Way)

Ermine Close
Ermine Way
Fox Dale
Highlands Way
Reform Street

Roxburgh Road
Stirling Road
Sutherland Way 
(evens)
The Courtyard

Torkington Street
Vence Close

STAMFORD ST. GEORGE’S WARD

SGA1
Alexandra Road
Bain Close
Cheshire Close
Christ Church Close
Drift Road
Emlyns Street (named 
properties)

Fane Close
Glen Crescent
Green Lane
Haberget Place
Holland Road
Irnham Road
Kesteven Road

Lincoln Road
Lindsey Road
Masterton Close
Masterton Road
New Cross Road 
(odds)
Somerby Close

South View Terrace
Willoughby Road
Witham Close

SGB1
Bentley Street **
Black Path **
Burghley Court **
Coalville Cottages **
Conduit Road (odds) **
Cornwall Road
East Street **
Emlyns Street (1-16 & 
The Rose) *

Emlyns Gardens **
Essex Road
Gloucester Road
Kings Road (33A-46, 
Hawthorns & Maron)
Kings Road (1-33) *
Lancaster Road
New Cross Road (part)
New Street **

Norfolk Square
Princes Road *
Queens Street *
Recreation Ground Road **
Redcot Gardens
Redcot Mews
Sargents Court (part)
Stanley Street **
Sussex Road

Tolethorpe Square
Trafalgar Terrace **
Victoria Road
Vine Street **
Worcester Crescent
York Road 

* From SGA1
** From SGC1

SGC1
Armley Grove
Berkeley Court
Berrybut Way
Blackstones Court
College Close
Conduit Road (odds)
Doughty Street

Drift Avenue
Drift Gardens
Drift Road
Edmonds Close
Hillary Close
Lincoln Road
Losecoat Close

Melbourne Road
New Cross Road (2-14)
Northfields Court
Rutland Road
Ryhall Road
St. George’s Avenue
St. Paul’s Street

Sunny Bank
Swanson House
The Close
Turnpole Close
Woodhead Close

48



STAMFORD ST. JOHN’S WARD

SJA1
Aberdeen Close
Angus Close
Arran Road
Ash Place
Ayr Close
Beech Grove
Birch Road
Blackthorn
Bluebell Road
Braemar Close
Bramble Grove
Buttercup Close
Byron Way
Caithness Road
Caledonian Road 
Campion Grove

Carisbrooke Grove
Casterton Road (103-
193 odds)
Cedar Road
Charlock Drive
Chestnut Gardens
Clover Gardens
Cornflower Close
Cromarty Road
Dickens Drive
Dundee Drive
Empingham Road 
(107-261 odds)
Falkirk Close
Fife Close
Fir Road

Forest Gardens
Foxglove Road
Garden Close
Gleneagles Close
Hazel Grove
Highgrove Gardens
Keats Grove
Kipling Close
Lavender Way
Marigold Close
Meadowsweet
Melrose Close
Montrose Close
Moray Close
Nairn Road
Oak Road

Oban Close
Perth Road
Pine Close
Primrose Way
Shelley Close
Sorrel Close
Sutherland Way (odds)
Sweetbriar
Tennyson Way
Tobias Grove
Troon Close
Willow Road

SJB1
Barnes Court
Boyfield Crescent
Brooke Avenue
Cottesmore Road
Culpepper Way
Empingham Road 
(100-158)

Exeter Gardens
Exton Close
Goody Rudkin Close
Groves Crescent
Hambleton Road
Hobbs Gardens
Kingsdown Drive

Langton Walk
Launde Gardens
Lonsdale Road
Luffenham Close
Lyndon Way
Melacholy Walk
Roman Bank

Stockwell Avenue
Tatum Close
Till Place
Tinwell Road
Tinwell Road Lane
Wheatsheaf Way

STAMFORD ST. MARY’S WARD

SMA1 
All Saints Place
Barn Hill
Barn Hill Mews
Broad Street
Brownes Hospital
Casterton Road
Chapel Court
Cliff Crescent

Cliff Road
Harcourt Terrace
Laburnum Villas
Lindum Cottages
Little Casterton Road
New Cross Road (part)
Newboults Lane
Newcomb Court

North Street
Northumberland Avenue
Orchard Close
Orchard Road
Radcliffe Close
Radcliffe Road
Red Lion Street
Rock House Gardens

Sargents Court (42-56)
Scotgate (52-73, Rock 
Cottage & Blenheim 
Court)
St John’s Terrace 
The Old Builders Yard
Wheatleys Yard
Woodbridge Mews

SMB1 
Adelaide Gardens
Adelaide Street
Albert Road
Anseres Place
Back Lane
Belton Gardens
Belton Street
Blackfriars Street
Bowman Mews
Brazenose Lane
Broad Street
Brownlow Quay
Brownlow Street

Brownlow Terrace
Cecil Court
Cherry Holt Road
Cheyne Lane
Cornstall Buildings
Danegeld Place
East Street
Elm Street
Gas Lane
Gas Street
Goldsmiths Lane
Hanover Court
High Street

Ironmonger Street
Maiden Lane
Milners Court
Pauley’s Court
Pinfold Lane
Priory Gardens
Priory Road
Red Lion Square
Red Lion Street
Riverside Place
Ryhall Road 
Skells Court
St George’s Square

St George’s Street
St Leonard’s Street
St Mary’s Place
St Mary’s Street
St Paul’s Street
Star Lane
Star Lane Mews
Tenter Court
The Croft
Ticklebank Gardens
Uffington Road
Wellington Lane
Wharf Road

SMC1 
All Saints Mews
All Saints Street (16-
22)
Austin Friars Lane

Austin Street
Bath Row (7-16)
Clare Close
Eight Acres

Empingham Road
Foundry Court
Foundry Road
Kings Mill Lane

Petergate
Queens Walk
Rock Court
Rock Road49



Rock Terrace
Roman Bank
Rutland Terrace
Scotgate (4-31B & 
Farrier Mews) 
Sheep Market

Sherwood Close
St Clements
St Peters Court
St Peter’s Hill
St Peter’s Street
St Peter’s Terrace

St Peter’s Vale
The Hermitage
Tinwell Road
Torkington Gardens
Truesdales Hospital
Warrenne Keep

West End Villas
West Street
West Street Gardens

SMD1 
All Saints Street (1-12)
Bath Row (part)
Castle Street
Castledyke
Church Court
Church Lane
Church Street
Fryers Callis

Garratt Road
Gooches Court
Gresley Drive
Hereward Place
High Street St Martin’s 
(36-67)
Kettering Road
Lord Burghley’s Hospital

Mallard Court
Mallory Lane
Olde Barn Passage
Pinfold Lane, St 
Martin’s
Red Lion Square
Scotneys Place
Seaton Road

Sheep Market
St John’s Street
St Mary’s Hill
St Mary’s Passage
Station Road
Wothorpe Mews
Wothorpe Road

SME1
Abbotts Close 
Axiom Court
Barnack Road
Barons Way
Burghley Lane
Daniel Court

Duncombs Yard
Edgar Gardens
High Street St Martin’s 
(1-35)
Lady Romayne Close
Lamberts Mews

Lumbys Terrace
Newtown Court
Park Lane
Park View
Phillips Court
Saxon Court

St Martin’s Close 
Stukeley Court
Water Street
Welland Mews
Woodside

50



Map 1: Grantham Barrowby Gate Ward - Proposed Revised Polling Districts 

Map 2: Stamford St George’s Ward - Proposed Revised Polling Districts

51

Appendix 2



Map 3: Stamford St Mary’s Ward - Proposed Revised Polling Districts

52



South Kesteven District Council

Equality Impact
(Stage 1)

Review of Polling Districts and
Polling Places

Lead officer:
Julie Edwards
Assessors:
Seb Brady

Service Area:

Legal and Democratic

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

02/11/18

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

We are carrying out a review of polling districts (these are smaller areas of 
Parliamentary Constituencies and local government wards) and polling places 
(buildings that house polling stations where electors go to vote).

We are required by the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 to 
undertake compulsory reviews of polling districts and polling places every five years.  
We are required to complete the next statutory review between October 2018 and 
January 2020.  During the review we consider making changes to some polling 
districts and polling places. We follow Electoral Commission guidance on how to 
carry out a review: guidance on the review of polling districts and polling places.

Considering the accessibility of polling places and polling stations for all electors in 
the area is a key part of the review.

Is this a new or existing policy? Existing

53

Appendix 3

http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/word_doc/0020/161633/Polling-district-review-guidance.doc


2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/strategy 
have a positive or negative 
impact on any of the equality 
groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or negative.
If you consider this policy etc 
is not relevant to a specific 
characteristic please explain 
why  

Age Potential for negative impact There was the potential for a 
negative impact on children who 
accompany their parents to 
polling stations where their polling 
station is a pub and could 
potentially restrict the hours their 
parents would vote. The potential 
impact is mitigated because 
those polling stations are located 
in rooms that are separated from 
the bar area and are accessed 
through the bar area; they are 
neither open for drinking nor the 
sale of alcohol.

We recognise that elections can 
have an impact where polling 
stations are located in schools. In 
these instances it is the 
responsibility of the head teacher 
to manage any safeguarding 
conflict by putting appropriate 
measures in place. These 
measures vary between schools 
– some head teachers/governors 
will make the decision to close for 
the day, while others are able to 
provide a room with direct access 
that does not conflict with areas 
populated by children.

Residents living in some SKDC 
sheltered housing schemes also 
lose access to their communal 
room for the day. This is offset by 
providing a polling station that is 
very conveniently located for 
them to access.  

54



Disability Potential for negative impact We are keen to provide local 
polling stations in as many areas 
are possible. Some of the villages 
have very limited community 
venues from which to choose and 
not all of those buildings are 
accessible.

Where there is a need, we 
provide ramps to assist with steps 
or thresholds. We will also 
provide additional lighting if there 
is a need.  

In moving polling stations or 
introducing new polling stations, 
door width is a key consideration.

Provision is also available within 
election procedure for Presiding 
Officers to take the ballot 
paper(s) outside to the voter if 
they cannot enter the polling 
station. Electors are also able to 
apply to vote by post if they would 
prefer to vote personally, or by 
proxy.

Potential impact for staff. We 
include an additional question 
relating to disability when we 
contact staff which is taken into 
consideration when allocating 
staff to specific polling stations.

Race Neutral This protected characteristic is 
not a determinant in this review.

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Neutral This protected characteristic is 
not a determinant in this review.

Religion or Belief  Potential for negative impact Where polling stations are 
situated in pubs, they are located 
in separate rooms that are not 
open for drinking or serving 
alcohol.

Some of the villages in the district 
are so small the only type of 
community building they have is a 
church. If an elector did not feel 
comfortable entering a church 
because of their religion or belief, 
they are able to apply to vote by 

55



post or proxy.  Alternatively the 
ballot paper could be taken 
outside to the voter by the 
Presiding Officer.  
If concerns are raised by staff 
members about appointment to a 
polling station in a church, we will 
look to offer them alternative 
appointment.

Sex

  

Neutral This protected characteristic is 
not a determinant in this review.

Sexual 
Orientation

Potential for negative impact Where polling stations are in a 
church or other religious building 
it is where there is no other 
alternative in the area. We are 
aware of the potential that some 
voters may not feel able to vote in 
a church because of the views of 
that faith on their sexual 
orientation. People are informed 
well in advance of where their 
polling station will be. If the voter 
did not feel able to vote in that 
polling station, they would have 
sufficient time to apply to vote by 
another method.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Neutral This protected characteristic is 
not a determinant in this review

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership

Neutral This protected characteristic is 
not a determinant in this review.

Carers Potential for negative impact A carer may have to take the 
person for whom they care with 
them to the polling station. If the 
polling station is not accessible 
for the person for whom they care 
and the carer cannot leave them 
alone outside, polling station staff 
could use the same provisions in 
place for electors with disabilities 
that are unable to gain access to 
the building.

56



Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices of 
multiple 
deprivation)

Rural communities Where possible a polling station 
will be put into all communities – 
we try and encourage polling 
stations in those very rural 
communities to help improve 
access and make voting as 
convenient as possible. Wherever 
we can we try and maintain 
polling stations in their rural 
communities.

General 
comments

Places we choose are determined by polling district boundaries, so 
the two aspects are interlinked. Polling districts are firstly determined 
by ease of access (travelling distance) and electorate, and then a 
suitable and safe venue within a polling district is identified for use.

Every effort is made to find accessible, well lit, prominently located 
buildings to use as polling places.

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

At each election polling station inspectors submit reports giving feedback on polling 
stations, including accessibility issues. These reports are fully reviewed and action 
is taken to address issues that have arisen. Polling station staff also feed-back on 
the polling stations in logbook; these reports are also followed-up.

Any building we consider for use as a polling station is visited when we make an 
assessment of accessibility and plan any action that would remove barriers to 
voters. The appointed Presiding Officer also checks the venue just before elections 
to ensure no adverse changes to accessibility have taken place.

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

As part of the review, we publish our draft recommendations so that members of the 
public can provide feedback. We also actively seek feedback from:

 Returning officers
 Members of Parliament
 District Councillors
 County Councillors
 Parish Councils 
 Local Constituency Political Parties

We take this feedback into account when developing final proposals.

57



4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any potential 
for discrimination or for negative impact and all opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead Officer 
and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality analysis or to 
better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality analysis 
has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Julie Edwards
(Name and title) Elections and Democratic Services Team Leader
Date completed: 02/11/18 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer
Date signed off:    02/11/18

58



COUNCIL

Report of: 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council and

Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, 
Wellbeing and Skills

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

22 November 2018

Community Governance Review – Corby Glen Parish 
Council  (LDS328)

Decision
Proposal:

Council Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council
Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, 
Wellbeing and Skills

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Julie Edwards, Elections and Democratic Team Leader
Tel: 01476 40 60 78
Email: j.edwards@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 18 October 2018

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel : 01476 40 61 52
Email: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 25 October 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel : 01476 40 61 05
Email: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 25 October 2018

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council
E-mail: kelham.cooke@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 5 November 2018
Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, 
Wellbeing and Skills
E-mail: jacky.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 8 November 2018

59

Agenda Item 7

mailto:j.edwards@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:kelham.cooke@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jacky.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk


SUMMARY

This report details the outcome of the Community Governance Review undertaken for 
Corby Glen Parish Council to increase the number of members on the Parish Council 
from seven to nine. 

RECOMMENDATION

1. That Council approves the increase in membership of Corby Glen Parish Council 
from seven to nine members; and

2. That Council agrees the draft Reorganisation Order, as set out at Appendix 1, is 
made in accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 At the 1 March 2018 Council meeting, Members considered and approved the 
commencement of a Community Governance Review (CGR) for the Parish of 
Corby Glen following the receipt of a request from the Corby Glen Parish 
Council.

1.2 Corby Glen Parish Council had requested that the number of Councillors on the 
Parish Council be increased from seven to nine.

1.3 The Parish Council considers that an increase in the number of Councillors is 
needed because of significant growth of the electorate for the Parish, including 
the building of three new estates over the last 20 years.

1.4 Terms of Reference were approved and an initial consultation process was 
undertaken, which ended on 11 May 2018.   During this period of consultation a 
total of 78 signatures were received from residents supporting the proposal to 
increase the number of members on the Parish Council from seven to nine.  No 
representations were received against the increase.

1.5 Responses from the initial consultation were considered to prepare the draft 
recommendation to increase the number of Parish Councillors to nine.  

1.6 A further period of consultation was undertaken on the draft recommendation 
from 11 June to 17 August 2018.  One further response was received during 
the second consultation period in favour of the proposal as detailed below: 

“I support the proposal of increasing the number of members on Corby Glen 
Parish Council from 7 to 9.

Corby Glen has grown in the last few years with approximately 150 more 
houses and it is in SKDC's Local Plan for another 280 new homes”

1.7 When considering the electoral arrangements of the Parish, the District Council 
is required to consider any changes in the number of the electors that is likely 
to occur in the next five years.  The electorate is forecast to increase by 141 
electors by 2023, to 988 electors.

60



1.8 Taking into account the results of the consultation exercises and the projected 
increase in electorate for the Parish, the recommendation is to implement the 
request made by Corby Glen Parish Council to increase the number of the 
Parish Councillors for the Parish by two, from seven to nine.

1.9 This will secure the community governance arrangements within the area and 
reflect the identities and interests of the community.

1.10 If approved, the number of Corby Glen Parish Councillors will not increase or 
take effect until the next set of ordinary Parish Council elections which are 
scheduled to take place in May 2019.    A Reorganisation Order, included as an 
Appendix to this report, will also need to be made.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council may decide not to approve the final stage of this Community 
Governance Review but this may not be considered appropriate given the 
responses to the consultation.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications applicable to this report. 

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 An equality analysis is not applicable in respect of this report.  

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications relating to this report.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 While the Council must provide resources to conduct the community 
governance review and any subsequent Order, there will be no ongoing 
financial liability to the Council.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
devolved power from the Secretary of State to principal councils to carry out 
community governance reviews and put in place or make changes to local 
community governance arrangements.  The Community Governance Review 
was undertaken in accordance with this Act.  

61



8.2 To implement the outcome of the review, the Council will be required to make a 
Reorganisation of Community Governance Order.  

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix 1: draft Reorganisation of Community Governance Order 2018

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Guidance on conducting community governance reviews: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil
e/8312/1527635.pdf

 Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/part/4

 Corby Glen Community Governance Review Terms of Reference and Draft 
Proposal: http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=13428 

62

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/8312/1527635.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/8312/1527635.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/part/4
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=13428


LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC 
INVOLVEMENT IN HEALTH ACT 2007

The South Kesteven District Council (Reorganisation of 
Community Governance) (Corby Glen Parish) Order 2018

Made xxxxx
Coming into force in accordance with article 1(2)

South Kesteven District Council (“the Council”), in accordance with section 82 of the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (“the 2007 Act”), has 
undertaken a community governance review and made recommendations dated 22 

November 2018:

The Council has decided to give effect to those recommendations, and in 
accordance with section 93 of the 2007 Act, has consulted with the local government 
electors and other interested persons and has had regard to the need to secure that 
community governance reflects the identities and interests of the community and is 
effective and convenient.

The Council, in accordance with section 100 of the 2007 Act, has had regard to 
guidance issued under that section.

The Council makes the following Order in exercise of the powers conferred by 
sections 86 and 240(10) of the 2007 Act.

Citation and commencement

1. – (1) This Order may be cited as the South Kesteven District Council 
(Reorganisation of Community Governance) (Corby Glen) Order 2018.

(2) Subject to paragraphs (3) and (4) below, this Order comes into force on 
1st April 2019.

(3) Article 4 shall come into force on the ordinary day of election of 
councillors in 2019.

(4) For the purposes of:

(a) this article; and
(b) proceedings preliminary or relating to the election of parish 

councillors for the parish of Corby Glen, to be held on the ordinary 
day of election of councillors in 2019,

63

Appendix 1



this Order shall come into force on the day after that on which it is 
made.

Interpretation

2. In this Order – 

“District” means the district of South Kesteven;

“Existing” means existing on the date this Order is made;

“Ordinary day of election of councillors” has the meaning given by section 37 of 
the Representation of the People Act 1983; and

“Registration officer” means an officer appointed for the purpose of, and in 
accordance with section 8 of the Representation of the People Act 1983.

Effect of Order

3. This Order has effect subject to any agreement under section 99 (agreements 
about incidental matters) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 relevant to any provision of this Order.

Number of Parish Councillors for the Parish of Corby Glen

4. The number of councillors to be elected for the Parish of Corby Glen shall be 
increased from seven to nine.

Electoral Register

5. The registration officer for the district shall make such rearrangement of, or 
adaptation of, the register of local government electors as may be necessary 
for the purposes of, and in consequence of, this Order.

Order date

6. 1st April 2019 is the order date for the purposes of the Local Government 
(Parishes and Parish Councils) (England) Regulations 2008.

Sealed with the seal of the council on the _____________ day of _____________, 
20___

[Signatory]
[day] [month] [year] [Title of signatory]

64



Explanatory Note

(This note is not part of the Order)

Chapter 3 of Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 authorises principal councils to undertake community governance reviews in 
their areas and make recommendations for matters such as the creation of new 
parishes and parish councils, the electoral arrangements for parish councils, the 
abolition of existing parishes and parish councils and changes to parish boundaries. 
Section 86 of the 2007 Act enables a principal council to make an order to give effect 
to recommendations made in a community governance review.

This Order gives effect to recommendations made by South Kesteven District 
Council for the increase in the number of parish councillors to be elected to Corby 
Glen Parish Council.

The electoral arrangements apply in respect of parish elections to be held on and 
after the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2019.

Article 4 specifies the numbers of parish councillors for the parish of Corby Glen.

65



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

22 November 2018

Establishment of a Working Group to undertake a 
review of Council Committees in preparation for the 
municipal year from May 2019 (LDS331)

Decision
Proposal:

Council Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Ben Bix, Head of Governance 
E-mail: ben.bix@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 31 October 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council 
Tel: 01476 406105
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 6 November 2018 

Debbie Muddimer, Strategic Director-Resources 
Tel: 01476 406301
E-mail: debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 6 November 2018

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council 
E-mail: kelham.cooke@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 8 November 2018
 

SUMMARY
A new Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2025 was agreed by Council in May 2018. It is timely 
that a Working Group be established to review the operation of the Committees of the 
Council in order that they are strong, efficient and agile enough to deliver the Corporate 
Strategy in future years.

67

Agenda Item 8

mailto:ben.bix@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:kelham.cooke@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

1. That a Working Group of nine Members of the Council, as set out in 1.6 below be 
appointed to undertake a review of the Committees of the Council in preparation 
for the municipal year from May 2019. 

2. That the findings and recommendations of the Working Group be reported to 
Council on 28 February 2019.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Since the Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2025 was agreed by Council in May 2018, 
the Council’s Committee structure should now be reviewed to ensure that it will 
be strong, efficient and agile enough to deliver the Corporate Strategy in future 
years. 

1.2 Other Councils such as Guildford, Crawley, Sevenoaks, Maidstone, 
Canterbury, Horsham, Tunbridge Wells, Derby, Worcester, Babergh / Mid 
Suffolk, South Gloucestershire, Nottinghamshire, Norfolk and Cornwall have in 
recent years conducted a review of their committee structure guided by a Local 
Government Association publication entitled Rethinking Governance. By 
undertaking a review, Members of the Working Group will be given an 
opportunity to understand comparative arrangements at other Councils.

1.3 Governance works best when checks and balances are well-understood, and 
resources are aligned to achieving outcomes. Most importantly, Members 
should own and support their Committee structure.

Overview and Scrutiny

1.4 The Government has said that it will publish its updated national guidance for 
the Overview and Scrutiny function in December 2018. The Centre for Public 
Scrutiny (CfPS) provides a self-evaluation ‘toolkit’, which the Working Group 
can complete to evaluate the effectiveness of the function and to propose how 
best to enact the forthcoming guidance through the Committee structure at the 
Council.

Terms of Reference

1.5 The Working Group will develop its own terms of reference at its first meeting. 
Due to the necessity to conclude the review in time for the February meeting of 
Council, the scope should be limited to:

a) The current Committee structure at the Council, including the number, 
scope and membership of Committees

b) The Overview and Scrutiny function

68



Membership of the Working Group 

1.6 Article 8 of the Constitution of the Council provides that the Deputy Leader of 
the Council has overall responsibility for Governance and Democratic Services. 
In order to achieve a representative membership and the engagement of 
political groups on the Council, the following membership of the Working Group 
is proposed.  

The Deputy Leader (Cabinet Member 
with responsibility for Governance) 

Councillor Kelham Cooke

Five Committee Chairmen Five Chairmen from the Council’s 
Committees as nominated at Council 
on 22 November 2018

Leader of the Labour Group Councillor Phil Dilks
Leader of the Independent Group Councillor Paul Wood
Leader of the SK Independent Group Councillor Nick Craft

 
2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 To not conduct a review prior to Annual Council in May 2019. This is not a 
preferred option because certainty of, and support for, the Committee structure 
is required.  

2.2 An Overview and Scrutiny self-evaluation could be undertaken by Overview and 
Scrutiny Members only, using the self-evaluation toolkit. This is not a preferred 
option as a Working Group established by Council allows for a broader 
membership and wider consideration of other Committees of the Council

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The review will be supported using existing officer resources. Meetings of the 
group, including any visits to other Councils will be supported in accordance 
with the scheme of Members Allowances. 

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Corporate Risk Theme 4 ‘Building a suitable level of capacity, skills and Culture 
within the Council workforce’ is defined as the ‘Council being unable to 
successfully achieve the level of change expected and required by the Council 
leaders and stakeholders. In creating the change will come a new culture and 
outlook that is described as “agile” and “outcome focussed” i.e. we do what we 
say we will.’

4.2 Key to 4.1 above is that ‘Member/officer mind sets are aligned regards the 
change initiatives enabling the appropriate cultural change’ and one of the 
mitigating actions is to ‘Launch and embed the Corporate Strategy to drive 
cultural change…’  

4.3 Embedding the cultural change desired by the Corporate Strategy calls for a 
timely review of the Committee structure in preparation for the new Council from 
May 2019. 

69



4.4 The purpose of the review is intended to mitigate the risk relating to cultural 
change

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 There are no equality or safeguarding issues arising from the establishment of 
a Working Group to undertake a review of the Council’s Committee structure. 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny function must discharge the functions of Section 19 
of the Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2009. 

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 The review can be completed within an existing budget. 

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 South Kesteven District Council has agreed a Constitution which sets out how 
the Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are 
followed to ensure that those are efficient, transparent and accountable to local 
people. Some of those processes are required by the law, while others are a 
matter for the Council to choose. The Council must act within the law and use 
its resources wisely.

8.2 The establishment of a Working Group by Full Council, with no conferment of 
delegated powers is acceptable local authority practice. The Working Group will 
report its findings and make recommendations to Full Council for consideration.  

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 There are none. 

10. APPENDICES

10.1 There are none. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 Rethinking Governance (Local Government Association & the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny 2013) 
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rethinking-Governance.pdf 

11.2 The scrutiny evaluation framework - A mechanism for reviewing, evaluating and 
improving local government scrutiny and governance arrangements (Centre for 
Public Scrutiny 2017) 
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfPS-Scrutiny-Evaluation-v2-
SINGLE-PAGES.pdf 

70

http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rethinking-Governance.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfPS-Scrutiny-Evaluation-v2-SINGLE-PAGES.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfPS-Scrutiny-Evaluation-v2-SINGLE-PAGES.pdf


11.3 Government Response to the Communities and Local Government Committee 
First Report of Session 2017-19 on the Effectiveness of Local Authority 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees - March 2018

https://bit.ly/2DeIiFe 

71

https://bit.ly/2DeIiFe


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: Councillor Helen Goral 

Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications 
 

 

Report to: 
 
Date: 
 
Subject: 

Council 
 
22 November 2018 
 
Article 4 Direction – Stamford (DM16)   

 

Decision 
Proposal: 

 
To designate an Article 4 Direction for Stamford Conservation Area 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member: 

 

Councillor Helen Goral 
Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications 

 
Report author: 
 
 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
 
Signed off by: 
 
 
 
 
Approved for 
publication 

 
Ian Wright, Principal Conservation Officer 
Tel: 01476 406389 
E-mail: i.wright@southkesteven.gov.uk  
Date: 6 November 2018 
 
Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management  
Tel: 01476 406388 
E-mail: s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk  
Date: 9 November 2018 
 
Paul Thomas, Strategic Director for Growth  
Tel: 01476 406162 
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  
Date: 9th November 2018 
 
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications 
E-mail: helen.goral@southkesteven.gov.uk  
Date: 12th November 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

73

Agenda Item 9

mailto:i.wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:helen.goral@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Following Cabinet resolution of 12 April 2018, public consultation was undertaken on 
the proposed designation of an Article 4 Direction removing certain permitted 
development rights on unlisted properties in the Stamford Conservation Area and the 
cancellation of the existing Warrenne Keep Direction. 
 
The proposal for an Article 4 Direction for Stamford Conservation Areas was 
considered by the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on the 
17 October 2018 and by Cabinet at their meeting on 1 November 2018. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council considers the outcome of the public consultation 
exercise and the comments of both the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Cabinet and confirms the designation of an Article 4 Direction for Stamford 
Conservation Area as drafted and attached to this report as Appendix A and 
cancellation of the existing Warrenne Keep Article 4 Direction, both effective from 1 
December 2018; together with the introduction of a fee of £206 for each planning 
application arising from the Direction and with any income surplus generated from the 
Article 4 Direction ring-fenced for future investment on the area covered by the 
Direction.  

 
1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 

 
1.1 Introduction 
 
1.1.1 At their 12 April 2018 meeting, Cabinet approved the commencement of a 

formal process to remove permitted development rights for specific  types of 
development within the designated Stamford Conservation Area under Article 4 
of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 (GPDO).  

 
1.1.2 The purpose of an Article 4 Direction is to bring under planning control      

development which would otherwise be permitted by virtue of the provisions of 
the GPDO.  

 
1.1.3 This action is considered necessary for the Stamford Conservation Area due to 

the increasing number of instances of alterations being carried out under 
permitted development rights which may be harmful to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.  This includes the installation of satellite 
dishes and the removal of chimneys which together with other alterations to 
unlisted dwelling houses have gradually eroded the architectural details of the 
historic fabric of unlisted residential buildings within the area. 

 
1.1.4 It should be noted, however, that works which are exempted from the definition 

of what is development, as set out in Section 55 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, cannot be controlled by this Direction. Works that do not 
amount to development do not require any form of permitted development rights 
so cannot be subject to this control. For example, replacing existing windows 
with like for like replacements. 

74



 

 

1.1.5 The Cabinet also authorised the Leader of the Council and the then Cabinet 
Member for Economy and Development to produce a set of options for the 
application fee for any works that would be restricted by the directive for any 
necessary consultation.  The public consultation included seeking views on a 
planning application fee of £206, which is the amount currently payable for 
householder applications. 

 
1.1.6 At the 17 October 2018 meeting of the Growth Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee Members considered the outcome of the public consultation 
exercise and following clarification of the Committee’s queries, the Committee 
resolved to recommend to Cabinet that the Article 4 Direction for Stamford 
should be adopted and the existing Warrenne Keep Direction be cancelled. 
Both to be effective from 1 December 2018;b) and the Committee also agreed 
and recommend that a fee of £206 be introduced for each planning application 
arising from the Direction. 
 

1.1.7 At their 1 November 2018 meeting Cabinet resolved  to recommend to Council  
that the Article 4 Direction for Stamford Conservation Area be confirmed as 
drafted and the existing Warrenne Keep Article 4 Direction be cancelled, both 
effective from 1 December 2018 together with the introduction of a fee of £206 
for each planning application arising from the Direction and that any income 
surplus generated from the designation of this Article 4 Direction is ring-fenced 
for future investment within the area covered by the Direction. 

 
1.2 Cancellation of existing Warrenne Keep Article 4 Direction 
 
1.2.1 There is an existing Article 4 Direction that applies to the Warrenne Keep 

residential development which was designated in the early 1980s immediately 
following the construction of the scheme. The development is located entirely 
within the Stamford Conservation Area. It is proposed that this Direction would 
be cancelled following the confirmation of the proposed area wide Article 4 
Direction for Stamford Conservation Area which would replace it.  

 
1.3 Consultations undertaken 
 
1.3.1   The public consultation exercise was undertaken between 20 August and 30 

September 2018.  The purpose of the consultation was to seek the public’s 
views on the proposed Article 4 Direction for the Stamford Conservation Area, 
cancellation of the existing Article 4 at Warrenne Keep and a proposed planning 
application fee of £206. 

 
1.3.2 To meet statutory requirements, the Council carried out the following:  
 

 The Direction and map of the Conservation Area (Appendix 1) and a 
Notice to the public explaining the statutory powers involved were 
produced in consultation with the Council’s Solicitor (Appendix 2); 

 The Direction and a copy of the Notice and map was sent to the 
Secretary of State (DCLG) on the 17 August 2018;  

 The Notice was advertised in the Stamford Mercury on 17 August 2018;  

 The Notice was displayed by site display in 12 locations within the Area 
from 17 August 2018 for six weeks;  

75



 

 

 The Notice was posted to approximately 1400 unlisted properties in the 
relevant area during the working week commencing 12 August 2018. 

 The consultation proposed that the Direction would come into force on 
the 1 December 2018 concurrently with the cancellation of the existing 
Warrenne Keep Direction. 

 The consultation included a proposed fee for future planning applications 
of £206.  

 
1.4 Outcome of public consultation 
 
1.4.1 As a result of the publicity carried out, at total of six written representations 

were received and a total of twenty persons attended the two drop-in sessions 
at Stamford Arts Centre. The representations can be summarised as follows: 

 

 Support in principle expressed by three of seven representations 
received (1400 notified). 

 Detrimental to owners desire to spontaneously maintain and repair 
property.  

 Unnecessary cost onto repairs and minor improvements. 

 Owners of unlisted buidlings erected after designation of Conservation 
Area should be exempt from fee.  Council does not exercise its 
enforcement powers at present when locals would like it to.   

 Would the Article 4 cover new doors of different material, new door 
furniture, new double-glazing changed from obscure to clear glass, 
heavy pruning of hedges and replacement of damaged roof tiles?  

 It is essential for energy saving developments to be used in older 
properties to mitigate against excessive energy use.  If too strict criteria 
are used and replacement doors, windows etc are very expensive 
opportunity to live in Stamford restricted only to the wealthy.  

 Article 4 likely to result in amateurish, “hotch-potch” and unsightly repairs 
being undertaken and probably being more detrimental to the area. 

 SKDC Planning cannot cope with current volume of applications.   

 No objections were expressed to the concurrent cancellation of the 
existing Warrenne Keep Article 4 Direction. 

 
1.4.2 Whilst virtually everyone who attended the drop-in sessions expressed support 

in principle for the proposed Article 4, as they recognise the need to preserve 
the unique qualities of the historic built environment of Stamford, concerns were 
expressed in relation to the following:  

 

 The fee that would be payable is a tax on top of cost of works. 

 Charging a fee is perceived to be a revenue raising exercise.  £206 is a 
significant amount to people on State Pension.   

 Has a sliding fee scale for different categories of works been 
considered? 

 Wording of some part of the Order needs altering to avoid ambiguity.  
Does painting exterior include window frames and doors? 

 How will general maintenance be affected – e.g. painting same colour? 

 If the Direction is confirmed a guidance note for property 
owners/occupiers should be produced putting the restrictions into plain 
English.   

76



 

 

1.4.3 The comments of Stamford Town Council and Stamford Civic Society were 
sought on the proposed Direction. 

1.4.4 Stamford Town Council have replied to confirm their support for Article 4 
direction in the Stamford Conservation Area. 

 
1.4.5 Stamford Civic Society have commented as follows: 
 

“Stamford Civic Society is extremely pleased that SKDC is proposing to 
introduce Article 4(1) Direction in the Stamford Conservation Area and supports 
the range of permitted developments to be removed in the case of unlisted 
dwelling houses and commercial properties. 

 
As Stamford was the first Conservation Area to be declared in 1967 we think it 
is important that there are the means to protect it for the long-term by ensuring 
that alterations to properties do not impact negatively on the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. 

 
We hope that SKDC has the resources to effectively implement the proposed 
changes in permitted development rights.” 

 
1.5 Evaluation of consultation responses 
 
1.5.1 With regard to concerns about the £206 fee, this is the same amount as is 

currently payable by householders for an application for works that are not 
permitted development. 

 
1.5.2 Repairs to unlisted buildings on a like-for-like basis would not require planning 

permission.  Only those works currently permissible under the sections of the 
GPDO listed in the Direction would require planning permission. 

 
1.5.3 The Direction would be enforced in the same way that current breaches of 

planning regulations are enforced.   
 
1.5.4 There would have to be a rapid photographic baseline survey of unlisted 

buildings just prior to the Direction coming into force and it is proposed to 
produce an explanatory leaflet for owners/occupiers of affected properties. 

 
1.5.5 The Direction would cover changes to doors and windows if there would be a 

material alteration but door furniture and hedges would not be covered.  
Replacement of damaged roof tiles on a like-for-like basis would not require 
planning permission. 

 
1.5.6 Buildings within a conservation area are exempt from compliance with the 

energy efficiency requirements of this Part L of the Building Regulations if the 
requirements would unacceptably alter the character or appearance of such 
buildings (i.e. would be harmful to their significance in NPPF terms). 

 
1.5.7 Whilst the actual number of applications a Direction would give rise to is 

uncertain until it comes into force, it is anticipated that the increase in 
applications would not result in the need for additional resources.  The 
application fee is intended to cover the cost of processing an application. 

77

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/c/534812/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/s/536524/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/n/1322139/


 

 

1.5.8 It is proposed that a Plain English Guidance explanatory guidance note for 
owners and occupiers be prepared for the website, should the Direction be           
confirmed.  

 
2 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
2.1 The only other option would be not to designate an Article 4 Direction or for the 

Direction to apply to a smaller area. However, there has been no area-wide 
control over permitted development across the Stamford Conservation Area 
since it was first designated in 1967 and there has since been a gradual erosion 
of the architectural details and of historic fabric to a significant number of 
unlisted buildings to the detriment of the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area as a whole. 

   
3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
3.1 There will be an increase in the number of planning applications received by the 

Council. Regulation 5(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Fees for 
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2017 amends the 2012 Regulations and now 
enables a planning application fee to be charged by the local planning authority 
where they have made an Article 4 Direction. Previously these types of 
application were exempt from planning fees. Following the completion of the 
designation of the Direction the proposed fee of £206 will be payable for 
planning applications required under the Article 4 Direction. 

 
3.2 Any resource issues are to be monitored to see how many applications are 

actually received as a result of the Article 4. 
  
4. RISK AND MITIGATION  
 
4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 

included in the table below: 
 

Category Risk Action / Controls 

There is a risk, without Article 4 Directions, 
that the special interest and character of 
Stamford Conservation areas could be 
eroded. 
 
There are circumstances in which Councils 
may be liable to pay compensation having 
made an Article 4 Direction, although the 
potential liability is limited in many cases 
by the time limits that apply. 
 
These circumstances include this type of 
Article 4 Direction that comes into effect 
after a period of consultation therefore a 
low category of risk is identified. 

The designation of the Article 4 
Direction will enable the Council 
to better protect the special 
character and appearance of 
the conservation areas. 

 

 

78



 

 

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.) 

 
5.1 An Equality Analysis has been undertaken and there are not considered to be 

any direct equality issues arising from this report. The Analysis is included in 
the Appendix 3 to this report. The public consultation has not given rise to any 
issues that necessitate further equality analysis. 

  
6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 

 
7.1 It is anticipated that there will be an increase in the number of applications for 

planning permission for which a fee, currently proposed to be £206, will be 
payable.  It is considered that the additional caseload can be met using existing 
resources although this will be monitored over the medium term to ensure there 
is no adverse impact on service quality.  The income derived from this proposal 
will be utilised to offset against operational costs as the charge will be set on a 
cost recovery basis only.  

 
7.2 It should be noted that there are circumstances in which Councils may be liable 

to pay compensation having made an Article 4 Direction, although the potential 
liability is limited in many cases by the time limits that apply. 

 
7.3 A ‘without immediate effect’ approach to the designation of an Article 4 

Direction is considered to be the most risk averse as it significantly reduces the 
risk of compensation claims and allows for consultation with those affected prior 
to the Direction being confirmed.  

 
8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 
8.1 The formal processes set out in the GPDO must be followed in the making of 

Article 4 Directions. 
 
8.2 Local planning authorities may be liable to pay compensation to those whose 

permitted development rights have been withdrawn if they: 
   

 Refuse planning permission for development which would have been 
permitted development if it were not for an Article 4 direction; or 

 

 Grant planning permission subject to more limiting conditions than the 
GPDO would normally allow, as a result of an Article 4 direction being in 
place.  

 
8.3 Compensation may be claimed for abortive expenditure or other loss or damage 

directly attributable to the withdrawal of permitted development rights.  
 
8.4 All claims for compensation must be made within 12 months of the date on 

which the planning application for development formerly permitted is rejected 
(or approved subject to conditions that go beyond those in the GPDO).  

79



 

 

8.5 Additionally, for certain prescribed classes of permitted development rights 
withdrawn by Article 4 Directions, compensation may only be claimed if an 
application for planning permission is submitted within 12 months following the 
effective date of the Direction. Also, if 12 months prior notice of the withdrawal 
of permitted development rights is given, there is no ability to claim 
compensation.  

 
8.6 There are other specific compensation provisions in relation to statutory 

undertakers.  
 
8.7 Issues in relation to the payment of compensation as a result of the withdrawal
 of permitted development rights are covered principally in sections 107 and 108
 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and the Town and
 Country Planning (Compensation) (England) Regulations 2015 (SI 2015/598). 

 
9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES  
 
9.1 None. 
 
10.  APPENDICES 
 
10.1 Appendix 1: Proposed Article 4 Direction 
 
10.2 Appendix 2: Copy of Article 4 Notice 
 
10.3 Appendix 3: Equality Analysis Assessment 
 
11.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made 

 
The Town and Country Planning (Compensation) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/392/contents/made 

 
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, 
Requests and Site Visits)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2017. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1314/made 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6
077/2116950.pdf 

 
Historic England publication: “Restricting Permitted Development: Article 4 
Directions and Heritage” 
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/historic-environment/article4directions/ 

 
Report to Cabinet PLA11 Article 4 Direction – Stamford 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=23746&PlanI 
=0&Opt=3 

80

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/392/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1314/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/historic-environment/article4directions/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=23746&PlanI=0&Opt=3
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=23746&PlanI=0&Opt=3


 

 

APPENDIX 1 
Proposed Article 4 Direction and Conservation Area Map 
 

South Kesteven District Council, as the local planning authority, will make a Direction under 
Article 4 (1) of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 which relates to the land described in Schedule 1 and applies to development of 
the description set out in Schedule 2. 
 

The Direction will apply to elevations which front a highway, waterway or important space.  
The effect of the Direction is to remove permitted development rights that would otherwise 
apply by virtue of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 
(England) 2015 (GPDO), and permission granted by that Order shall not apply to development 
of the type specified in Schedule 2 of this Notice unless planning permission is granted by the 
local planning authority. 
 

Schedule1:  The Direction relates to unlisted properties in the whole of Stamford Conservation 
as designated in October 1967 and extended under the Stamford Conservation Area Appraisal 
November 2011. 
 

Schedule 2:  The Direction applies to the following classes of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development Order) (England) 2015: 

 

These relate to the rights under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E, F and H, Part 2 
Classes A and C, Part 11, Class C, Part 14 Classes A, E, F, J, N and O, Part 16, Classes B 
and C of the GPDO 2015 and refer to: 
 

 the erection, alteration or removal of a chimney or flue on a dwelling house, or on a 
building within the curtilage of a dwelling house. 
 

And any of the following permitted development rights for development which would be facing 
onto and be visible from a highway, footpath or open space: 
 

 the enlargement, improvement or other alteration of a dwelling house (including 
alterations to windows, doors, stone and brickwork); 

 any alteration of the roof of a dwelling house; 

 the erection or construction of a porch outside an external door of a dwelling house; 

 the provision within the curtilage of a dwelling house of any building, enclosure, 
swimming pool or other pool required for a purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the 
dwelling house as such, or the maintenance, improvement or other alteration of such 
a building or enclosure; 

 the provision within the curtilage of a dwelling house of a hard surface for any 
purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling house as such; 

 the installation, alteration or replacement of a satellite antenna on a building; 

 the replacement of cast iron guttering with plastic, or the addition of new guttering and 
downpipes; 

 the erection, alteration or demolition of the whole or any part of any gate, fence, wall 
or other means of enclosure within the curtilage of a building; 

 the painting of the exterior of a building or a building or enclosure within the curtilage 
of the building; and 

 the installation, alteration or replacement of solar photovoltaic (solar panels) or other 
solar thermal equipment. 

 

The effect of the Direction will be that the permission granted by Article 3 of the Order shall not 
apply to the descriptions of development set out in the Schedule above, and that those 
developments as described in Schedule 2 shall not be carried out unless permission is granted 
by the Local Planning Authority, under Part III of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended. 

 

81



 

 

 

  

82



 

 

APPENDIX 2 
Notice of Article 4 Direction  
 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTICE OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION IN STAMFORD CONSERVATION 
AREA 

 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED 

DEVELOPMENT ORDER) (ENGLAND) 2015 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that South Kesteven District Council, as the local planning 
authority,  is to make a Direction under Article 4 (1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 which relates to the land described in 
Schedule 1 and applies to development of the description set out in Schedule 2. 
 
The Direction will apply to elevations which front a highway, waterway or important space.  
The effect of the Direction is to remove permitted development rights that would otherwise 
apply by virtue of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 
(England) 2015 (GPDO), and permission granted by that Order shall not apply to development 
of the type specified in Schedule 2 of this Notice unless planning permission is granted by the 
local planning authority. 
 
Schedule1:  The Direction relates to unlisted properties in the whole of Stamford Conservation 
as designated in October 1967 and extended under the Stamford Conservation Area Appraisal 
November 2011. 
 
Schedule 2:   The Direction applies to the following classes of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development Order) (England) 2015: 
 
These relate to the rights under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E, F and H, Part 2 
Classes A and C, Part 11, Class C, Part 14 Classes A, E, F, J, N and O, Part 16, Classes B 
and C of the GPDO 2015 and refer to: 
 

 the erection, alteration or removal of a chimney or flue on a dwelling house, or on a 
building within the curtilage of a dwelling house. 

 
And any of the following permitted development rights for development which would be facing 
onto and be visible from a highway, footpath or open space: 
 

 the enlargement, improvement or other alteration of a dwelling house (including 
alterations to windows, doors, stone and brickwork); 

 any alteration of the roof of a dwelling house; 

 the erection or construction of a porch outside an external door of a dwelling house; 

 the provision within the curtilage of a dwelling house of any building, enclosure, 
swimming pool or other pool required for a purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the 
dwelling house as such, or the maintenance, improvement or other alteration of such a 
building or enclosure; 

 the provision within the curtilage of a dwelling house of a hard surface for any purpose 
incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling house as such; 

 the installation, alteration or replacement of a satellite antenna on a building; 

 the replacement of cast iron guttering with plastic, or the addition of new guttering and 
downpipes; 

83



 

 

 the erection, alteration or demolition of the whole or any part of any gate, fence, wall or 
other means of enclosure within the curtilage of a building; 

 the painting of the exterior of a building or a building or enclosure within the curtilage of 
the building; and 

 the installation, alteration or replacement of solar photovoltaic (solar panels) or other 
solar thermal equipment. 

 
The effect of the Direction will be that the permission granted by Article 3 of the Order shall 
not apply to the descriptions of development set out in the Schedule above, and that 
those developments as described in Schedule 2 shall not be carried out unless 
permission is granted by the Local Planning Authority, under Part III of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, as amended. 
 
The Authority will consider any representations on the proposed making of the Direction which 
are submitted over a six week period commencing 20 August 2018 and finishing on 30 
September 2018. 
 
A map identifying the extent of the Article 4 Direction and a schedule of development affected 
by the Article 4 Direction can be inspected at: 
 
Stamford Area Office, 1 Maiden Lane, Stamford  
(Mon – Weds 9.00am – 4.45pm; Thurs 9.00am – 3.30pm; Friday 9.00am – 4.15pm) 
 
Grantham, Customer Services, Council Offices, St Peter’s Hill, Grantham  
(Mon, Tues, Thurs 8.45am – 5-15pm; Weds 8.45am – 4.00pm: Friday 8.45am – 4:45pm) 
 
and at www.southkesteven.go.uk/planning   
 
Representations concerning this Direction are to be made to South Kesteven District Council 
by letter addressed to South Kesteven District Council, Conservation Team, The Council 
Offices, St Peter’s Hill, Grantham, NG31 6PZ or by email to conservation@south 
kesteven.gov.uk 

 
In deciding whether to confirm the Direction the Council will take into account all 
representations duly received.  Subject to confirmation by the Council, it is proposed that the 
Direction will come into force on 1 December 2018. 
 
When the proposed Article 4 Direction comes into force, the April 1984 Article 4 Direction at 
Warrenne Keep will be cancelled and replaced by the proposed Article 4 Direction. 
 
 
 
Paul Thomas 
Strategic Director for Growth 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

84

http://www.southkesteven.go.uk/planning


 

 

APPENDIX 3 

EQUALITY ANALYSIS  

 
 

South Kesteven District Council 
 

Equality Analysis 
(Stage 1) 

 
  Article 4 Direction - Stamford Conservation Area     

 

 
 

Service Area: 
 

Development 
Management 

 

Lead officer: 
Ian Wright 

Date of Meeting  
 
12/04/18 Assessors: 

Sylvia Bland 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 

 
1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 

 

It is proposed to designate an Article 4 Direction to remove specific permitted 
development rights from residential properties within the Stamford Conservation 
Area. This is being carried out in order to prevent the continued gradual erosion of 
architectural details relating to the historic fabric of unlisted buildings in the Stamford 
Conservation Area in the interests of preserving the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area. 
 
The designation is procedural in nature. The effect of the Article 4 Direction would 
be to require the submission of a planning application in order to assess the merits 
of the proposals against national and local planning policy together with any other 
material planning considerations. There is provision for compensation to be paid to 
the landowner for abortive expenditure and any loss or damage caused by the loss 
of rights. Research has shown that this is very unlikely to be evoked.  
 
A fee may be charged for a planning application required as a result of designating 
an Article 4 Direction. It will not be higher than the current fee for a householder 
planning application. 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 

85



 

 

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or negative 
impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or diversity 
strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local consultations 
evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/functi
on/strategy have a 
positive or negative 
impact on any of the 
equality groups?  
 
Please state which 
for each group 

Please describe why the impact is positive 
or negative. 
If you consider this policy etc is not 
relevant to a specific characteristic please 
explain why   

Age 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. 

Disability 
 

 

Potential for negative 
impact 

This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. However it is 
recognised that the access needs of persons 
with a disability could be negatively impacted 
upon should this designation be applied 
without consideration of individual 
requirements.  Reasonable adjustments 
required to meet the needs of an individual 
with a disability will be positively addressed 
on a case-by-case basis in the execution of 
this designation.  

Race 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. However, 
should an individual require information in 
their language of origin this will be supplied 
on request. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. 

Religion or Belief Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. 

Sex 
 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this designation. 

86



 

 

Carers Neutral No direct impact has been identified in 
relation to those with caring responsibilities 
beyond those already addressed under the 
protected characteristic of disability 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices of 
multiple 
deprivation) 

Neutral People within the ‘other groups’ identifier 
were not a determinant of this designation. 
 

General 
comments 

This designation relates to buildings rather than persons directly and 
as such impacts on all the protected characteristics.   
 
Information in alternative formats will be provided on request to 
persons with disabilities, literacy issues and to those whose first 
language is not English. 

 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of the 

proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant consultation who 
took part and key findings) 

 

No equality data or information has informed the intention to commence the formal 
process to designate an Article 4 Direction to date. 
 
Public consultation would take place following the resolution to commence the 
formal process to designate an Article 4 Direction and the comments received will 
be taken on board before final decision is made. This is a statutory requirement of 
the designation process as set out in Schedule 3 of the General Permitted 
Development Order 2015. 
 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this be 
addressed? 

 

None 

 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be required to 

provide evidence to support the recommendations made): Please check one of 
the options.    

 

a) Equality analysis has not identified any potential for discrimination or for 
negative impact and all opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you will need to complete a Stage 3 analysis 
when your policy/service/function/strategy has been implemented 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality analysis or to 
better promote equality.  

 

  
 

 

87



 

 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d) Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality analysis 
has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative equality 
impacts? 

 

Not applicable 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed changes and if 

you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale behind that decision.   
 

There is statutory requirement to consult the general public, Stamford Civic Society 
and Stamford Town Council as part of the formal designation process. 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality analysis 
 

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ strategy. 

 
  

Not applicable 

 
 
If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality analysis. You 

should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to reduce the negative 
impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 

 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):   Ian Wright 
(Name and title)   Principal Conservation Officer 

 
Date completed:  9.3.18 

 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):            Carol Drury 
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer  
 

Date signed off:   13.3.18 

 
 
 
 

88



COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

22 November 2018

Minutes of Cabinet meetings approved since 27 
September 2018 (LDS321)

Decision
Proposal:

No decision required

Relevant Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 5 November 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15
E-mail: margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 8 November 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel: 01476 40 61 05
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 8 November 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
E-mail: matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 8 November 2018

SUMMARY

The minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 6 September 2018 and 4 October 2018 as 
approved by the Cabinet at its meeting on 1 November 2018 are appended to this 
report for noting by the Council.

The minutes of the Cabinet’s meeting held on 1 November 2018 will be made available 
at a future meeting of Council following approval by the Cabinet at its meeting on 20 
December 2018.

89

Agenda Item 10

mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.lee@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

Council is asked to note the minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 6 September 
2018 (Appendix 1) and 4 October 2018 (Appendix 2) as appended to report number 
LDS330.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 South Kesteven District Council operates a Leader and Cabinet arrangement 
as established under the Local Government Act 2000. In 2010 the Council 
adopted the strong Leader model under provisions within the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

1.2 The Local Authorities  (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 set out the responsible body for different functions, specifically those 
functions that are not executive functions, those that may be determined by an 
authority’s executive and those functions that are not the sole responsibility of 
the executive. All other functions are, by default, executive functions and would 
therefore, under the Council’s arrangements, be determined by the Cabinet. 
The requirements of these Regulations mean that at its meetings, the Cabinet 
may make some decisions outright whilst in other instances it may make 
recommendations to Council.

1.3 The minutes of the Cabinet’s meetings are made available to the Council to 
note the decisions taken by the Cabinet. The agendas, reports to Cabinet and 
individual Cabinet Member decisions are all available on the Council’s website 
should Members wish to read them.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not applicable.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Not applicable.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified. 

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 An equality analysis is not applicable to this report. Analysis will be carried out 
as required in respect of the matters brought before the Cabinet for decision.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

90



7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising as a result of this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 There is a requirement to publish Cabinet decisions in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012. These minutes have been recorded 
to inform Members of the deliberations at the meeting.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None.

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix 1: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 
September 2018.

10.2 Appendix 2: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 4 October 
2018.

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None.

91



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES
CABINET
THURSDAY, 6 SEPTEMBER 2018

THE LEADER: Councillor Matthew Lee (Chairman)
THE DEPUTY LEADER: Councillor Kelham Cooke

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes

NON-CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor David Taylor
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Linda Wootten

OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles)
Assistant Chief Executive, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Growth (Jane McDaid)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
Assistant Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Head of Communications (Adrian Smith)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

CO21. APOLOGIES

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Robins.

Apologies were also submitted by three Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairmen:  
Councillors Exton, Sampson and Ray Wootten.

93

Appendix 1



CO22. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 12 JULY 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2018 were agreed as a correct record.

CO23. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY)

No interests were disclosed.

CO24. *DELIVERSK

Decision:

1. Cabinet supports and approves the establishment of DeliverSK as 
described in report DSK002

2. Cabinet delegates to the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications, in consultation with the Strategic Director for 
Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to select 
and confirm the private sector partner for DeliverSK as discussed in 
report DSK002

3. Cabinet delegates to the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications, in consultation with the Strategic Director for 
Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to set up 
DeliverSK as detailed in report DSK002, entering into any necessary 
legal agreements needed to facilitate this

4. Cabinet recommends to Council the approval of a budget of up to 
£100k for initial set-up costs and up to £500k as initial working capital 
for DeliverSK, and to delegate to the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications, in consultation with the Strategic Director for 
Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to invest 
up to £500k (i.e. the working capital) in Deliver SK, once the company 
has been set up

5. Cabinet seeks to recover a portion of the establishment costs for 
DeliverSK from the Partnership’s future profits

6. Cabinet approves the appointment of the Leader of the Council, the 
Deputy Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive as the Council’s 
nominated Board Members for DeliverSK

7. Cabinet requests that the Governance and Audit Committee considers 
any changes necessary to the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy to allow the initial and future investments in DeliverSK 
activities and projects

8. Cabinet authorises a governance review of all of the Council-owned 
companies and DeliverSK to ensure that decision-making is 

94



transparent and open, and that those companies are empowered to 
fulfil their stated purpose

Considerations/reasons for decision

1. Report number DSK002 of the Leader of the Council 
2. The Council is seeking to add a further £1.2 billion to South Kesteven’s 

economy by 2040
3. An announcement made by the Leader in October 2017 regarding £40m 

investment in strategic projects to be delivered or underway by 2020
4. The opportunity for the Council to work with an experienced private sector 

partner on a more agile, commercial basis on larger development projects
5. Detailed business cases would need to be approved for all projects
6. Potential inputs different partners could bring to DeliverSK and their benefits 

to the district
7. Working with a partner would share the ownership and risk
8. Companies seeking to be prospective partners would be considered as part 

of a selection process
9. Returns would be used to pay off project costs, then investments from both 

partners, then any profits would be split according to the proportion of 
investment made by each partner

10. The proposed management structure for the company as set out in report 
DSK002 with the amendment that the Deputy Leader would be a Board 
Member and not an observer [Underlined text relates to clarification made 
as part of approval of the minutes at Cabinet on 1 November 2018]

11. Indicative timelines for the formation of DeliverSK and commencement of 
activity

12. Assessment of risk and controls in place to mitigate identified risks
13. The role of the Governance and Audit Committee, which is to “monitor, 

review and amend as appropriate the Council’s approved Treasury 
Management Strategy paying particular attention to the inherent risks of the 
prevailing economic/financial climate”

14. Comments and recommendations made by the Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 29 August 2018 and subsequent legal 
advice taken in respect of those recommendations

Other options considered and assessed

 Option 1: Do nothing

The Council could continue to serve primarily as a facilitator for growth, setting 
policy and creating a framework for the district’s regeneration, but not take an 
active, participatory role. This has a number of disadvantages, not least of 
which is that the type of growth that comes forward and in what order will be 
something over which the Council has limited influence. SKDC’s land assets 
will also remain unused. This approach is also inconsistent with the 
progressive, forward-thinking ethos that SKDC has embraced in recent times 
and will not unlock the district’s potential. This option was therefore discarded.

 Option 2: Create a wholly owned company

95



The Council has created other companies – most recently InvestSK – that are 
wholly-owned, i.e. not formed with an external partner. This would mean all 
decisions around what DeliverSK did remained, effectively, in Council control, 
whereas in the LLP model proposed in this report decision-making is by 
consensus of both parties. Creating a wholly-owned company would see all of 
the risks associated with finance and development sitting with the Council, 
whereas in the proposed LLP model the Council would share the risk and 
have access to commercial skills and expertise it lacks.

 Option 3: Create a traditional Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV)

An LABV is a form of partnership or joint venture between a public body and a 
private sector investment partner, normally over the medium or long-term. The 
public partner generally inputs assets, with the private sector partner providing 
finance and technical expertise, including development management skills and 
also potentially the construction supply chain. There have been some high-
profile examples created in the UK previously, but the LLP model proposed 
has some significant differences that create a better fit for SKDC.

For example, SKDC would not be procuring development management skills 
or contractors; DeliverSK would engage its own consultants/contractors as it 
moves forward with individual projects. In addition, it is common that LABVs 
have significant land assets transferred to them at inception, and that this 
drives the pipeline. This not only means more upfront commitment than is 
needed in the model proposed for DeliverSK, it also means it is more complex 
to create and operate, and that the Council is likely to have less control.

This type of vehicle tends to be lengthy and costly to set up and does not offer 
the Council the concentrated investment focus that it requires.

* * *

The Leader introduced report DSK002, stating that he saw the formation of 
DeliverSK as a key tool to help meet the Council’s growth ambitions. Reference was 
made to a meeting of the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee at which the 
formation of DeliverSK had been considered.  A change was made to 
recommendation 6 as it was proposed that the Deputy Leader should be nominated 
to the Board of DeliverSK rather than acting as an observer [Underlined text relates 
to clarification made as part of approval of the minutes at Cabinet on 1 November 
2018].

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee had made a number of recommendations, 
which Cabinet Members considered. The Cabinet agreed to incorporate 
recommendations about recovering a portion of establishment costs through the 
partnership’s future profits and that there should be a review of the governance 
arrangements for DeliverSK and all of the Council’s other companies. There was also 
recognition that as well as profits, any losses would be split between the partners in 
accordance with their investment inputs. Cabinet Members did not support the 
Committee’s recommendation about the inclusion of a clause that 5% of the 

96



investment amount be provided upfront by the investor as surety should the project 
fail as there was concern that this could deter potential partners. The Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee also raised concerns regarding individual Cabinet 
Members having sole responsibility for decision-making on selection of a partner and 
entry into the partnership but reassurance was given that the Cabinet Member would 
be supported in decision-making by Cabinet colleagues.

Cabinet Members agreed the recommendations in the report together (with the 
change to the role of the Deputy Leader from an observer to a Board Member) 
[Underlined text relates to clarification made as part of approval of the minutes at 
Cabinet on 1 November 2018] with the two recommendations based on the 
comments made by the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee regarding 
governance and offsetting establishment costs.

CO25. DATA PROTECTION POLICY

Decision:

Cabinet approves the draft Data Protection Policy attached as Appendix 1 to 
report number LDS309

Considerations/reasons for decision

1. Report number LDS309 of the Deputy Leader of the Council and 
appendices, including the draft Data Protection Policy (Appendix 1) and 
procedure documents

2. The Data Protection Policy was last revised in 2015
3. The introduction of the Data Protection Act 2018 which implemented the 

General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) into law on 25 May 2018
4. Comments and recommendations made by the Communities and Wellbeing 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 31 July 2018
5. The six data protection principles with which anyone processing personal 

data must comply

Other options considered and assessed

There are no other options to consider

* * *

In presenting report number LDS309, the Deputy Leader explained that it had been 
necessary to review the Council’s Data Protection policy in light of new legislation. 
Cabinet Members approved the draft Data Protection Policy which was attached as 
appendix 1 to report LDS309.

97



CO26. RECTORY FARM - SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT

Decision:

The Cabinet approves the draft Rectory Farm Planning Brief (appended to 
report number DM13) for the purposes of consultation

Considerations/reasons for decision

1. Report number DM13 of the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications including the appended draft Rectory Farm Planning Brief 
and associated masterplans

2. The adoption of a planning brief provides a tool to ensure that the 
development of parts of the site do not prejudice the delivery of the 
remainder of the site and that development is undertaken in a cohesive and 
comprehensive manner

3. Rectory Farm forms a phase of the Grantham North West Quadrant 
development

4. The drafting of the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been 
supported by AECOM

5. The consultation process set out in Appendix 4 of report DM13
6. The equality analysis attached at Appendix 3 of report number DM13

Other options considered and assessed

 To not proceed with the preparation of the Supplementary Planning 
Document

An alternative would be to rely on developers to submit a planning application 
and hopefully engage in pre-application discussions. The preparation of the 
SPD is a more positive and proactive approach in that it provides guidance to 
developers, SKDC officers and the general public on the key issues and 
impacts to consider when assessing and submitting a planning application for 
phase 2 of the North West Quadrant

* * *

The Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications presented the 
recommendations in report number DM13 and explained that this was a draft 
document for public consultation that would, once it was approved, add detail to the 
policies set out in the emerging local plan which could be applied when the Council 
was considering planning applications. The draft plan was intended to provide a tool 
to ensure cohesive, high quality development across a large site which comprised 
land across a number of different ownerships.

Cabinet Members spoke about the standards of design and reference was made to a 
design guide for the district that was in development. Cabinet Members also felt that 
it was important to learn from experiences of other sites in multiple ownership had 
been developed across the district. It was noted that once the document had been 

98



subject to consultation, the document would be re-presented to Cabinet, together 
with the results of the consultation, for approval. 

The Cabinet approved the recommendation as set out in report DM13. 

CO27. MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

Report number LDS310 of the Leader of the Council summarised the activity of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last report was presented to Cabinet on 
12 July 2018.

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Further to the update provided in report LDS310, Members were advised that the 
Committee was holding a workshop to which all Councillors were invited to receive 
further information in connection with health and wellbeing across the district.

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
referred to items considered at the Committee’s previous meeting and gave a brief 
synopsis of the agenda items for the Committee’s meeting taking place on 13 
September 2018. Reference was also made to the opening of the Wyndham Park 
Visitor Centre on Sunday 9 September 2018.

CO28. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON 
KEY AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS.

Report number LDS311 of the Leader of the Council informed the Cabinet of 
decisions that had been taken by individual Members since the last meeting of the 
Cabinet was held on 12 July 2018.

Appendix A related to the food and health and safety work plan 2018/19 and 
Appendix B to the approval (subject to consultation) of a proposed new lease with 
Stamford Bridge Club for the extension of their existing parking area.

CO29. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS

Report number LDS312 of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet Members that 
no non-Cabinet Members had submitted requests to speak prior to the publication of 
the agenda. Since the publication of the agenda, one Member, Councillor Baxter, had 
requested to make representations at the meeting, seeking to raise three issues.

The Brambles Development, Market Deeping

Reference was made to the Brambles development site in Market Deeping and a 
planning condition that related to works required to roads to bring them up to 
adoptable standard that should have been undertaken prior to the occupation of the 

99



development. The Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications provided an 
update, stating that the developer had been given a week to formally respond, if they 
did not a breach of condition notice would be issued by the end of September. In the 
meantime negotiations with the developer would continue to try and each a solution 
outside the enforcement process.

Deepings Saturday Market

An update was given on the progress of the proposal for a Saturday market in the 
Deepings. The initial consultation process had been completed and the outcome had 
been sent to Lincolnshire County Council Highways for them to carry out their own 
consultation on the closure of the short stay car park in the Market Place, which 
would be required to enable the market to proceed. Work was also under way to try 
to identify prospective traders for a Saturday market in the Deepings.

Deepings Leisure Centre

Members were advised that proposals for a new leisure centre in the Deepings had 
moved from the feasibility to business planning stage, which also included 
consideration of possible sites. It was still intended for construction to begin by 2020-
21. Consideration was also being undertaken about leisure facilities in the other 
towns in the district. 

CO30. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Report number LDS313of the Leader of the Council gave an indication of the items 
that would be presented to Cabinet. The report also included items that were 
scheduled to be considered at Council meetings during the municipal year.

15:07-15:23 – the meeting adjourned.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

The Cabinet agreed to exclude the press and public during consideration of the 
following item of business because of the likelihood that information that was 
exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
(as amended) would be disclosed to them.

CO31. *STRATEGIC REGENERATION ACQUISITIONS - LAND IN SOUTH 
KESTEVEN

Decision:

Cabinet authorises the acquisition of a parcel of land in the South Kesteven 
area (a) subject to contract, satisfactory replies to searches and enquiries and 
to the terms negotiated; and (b) subject to approval by Council of the 
necessary budget allocation.

100



Considerations/reasons for decision

1. Report number PD0095 of the Deputy Leader of the Council and the 
exempt appendices to the report

2. The Council’s growth ambitions and the strategic importance of the site
3. Recommendations for financing the acquisition of the site and associated 

arrangements set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy and 
prudential indicators

4. Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 and Section 111 of the Local 
Government Act 1972

5. Support of the proposal by the relevant Ward members

Other options considered and assessed

 Consideration has been given to not purchasing the site in question. However, 
in order to promote sustainable economic development in the area, this is 
regarded as an essential site.

* * *

The Leader presented report number PD0095 and its exempt appendices. Cabinet 
Members approved the recommendations. 

CO32. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 15:30.

DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE:

Items CO24(1-3 and 5-8), CO25, CO26 and CO31(a) as made on Thursday 6 
September 2018 can be implemented on Monday 17 September 2018 unless subject 
to call-in by the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any five 
Members of the Council form any political group. Items CO24(4) and CO31(b) stand 
referred to Council on 27 September 2018.

101



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES
CABINET
THURSDAY, 4 OCTOBER 2018

THE LEADER: Councillor Matthew Lee (Chairman)
THE DEPUTY LEADER: Councillor Kelham Cooke

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes

NON-CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Bob Sampson
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Resources (Debbie Muddimer)
Assistant Chief Executive, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Growth (Jane McDaid)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
Assistant Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Head of Communications (Adrian Smith)
InvestSK (Steve Bowyer)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)
Legal Executive (Mandy Braithwaite)

CO33. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 6 SEPTEMBER 2018

The Leader announced that there were a number of minor amendments that needed 
to be made to the draft minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2018. Cabinet 
Members agreed to these amendments being made outside the meeting and the 
minutes being resubmitted for approval at Cabinet’s next meeting on 1 November 
2018.

103

Appendix 2



CO34. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY)

No interests were disclosed.

CO35. *HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY AND 
THE EQUALITY ACT 2010

Decision

The Cabinet agrees to implement the provisions of Section 165, 166 and 167 of 
the Equality Act 2010 and that the draft policy as set out at Appendix E of 
report number CSL/131 is adopted and included in the Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy.

Considerations/Reasons for Decision

1. Report number CSL/131 of the Cabinet Member for Environment 
2. Sections 165, 166 and 167, together with other relevant provisions of the 

Equality Act 2010
3. South Kesteven District Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy 
4. The letter of notification to drivers, proprietors and operators
5. The equality analysis attached as Appendix D to report number CSL/131
6. The draft Medical Exemption Policy attached as Appendix E to report 

number CSL/131
7. Comments made by the Licensing Committee at its meeting on 7 

September 2018
8. Comments made by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 

its meeting on 11 September 2018

Other options considered and assessed

The Council could determine not to implement the provisions of the Act.

* * *

The Cabinet Member for Environment presented report CSL131, advising Members 
that while the adoption of Sections 165, 166 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010 was at 
Councils’ discretion the introduction of these Sections of the Act was seen as an 
opportunity. Their adoption would provide a service to vulnerable members of the 
community by ensuring that people with disabilities could not be refused access to 
adapted vehicles, nor could they be charged an inflated rate. 

The Cabinet Member for Environment stated that there were currently 6 adapted 
vehicles in operation within the district. Cabinet Members noted that operators with 
adapted vehicles would be listed on the Council’s website. Drivers of adapted 
vehicles did not have the discretion to choose whether they were included on the 
listings; the only way in which a vehicle could be excluded was by applying for, and 
being granted, an exemption.

104



Cabinet Members agreed the recommendations in the report.

CO36. *GROUNDS MAINTENANCE COMPANY

Decision

1. Cabinet approves the incorporation of the Environment SK companies 
(limited by shares) utilising Model articles of association

2. Cabinet approves the appointment of the following as Directors of 
Environment SK Ltd and Environment SK Commercial Services Ltd

 Cabinet Member for Environment – Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley 
(Chairman)

 Assistant Director Commercial and Operational – Ian Yates
 Strategic Advisor (Housing Led Regeneration) – Tracey Blackwell

3. Cabinet approves the appointment of a Non-Executive Director to the 
Board of Environment SK Commercial Services Ltd

Considerations/Reasons for Decision

1. Report number ENV703 of the Cabinet Member for Environment
2. The Council’s Corporate Strategy and its emphasis on commercialism
3. The Council’s current grounds maintenance contract with Glendale which 

expires at the end of February 2019
4. A review of service delivery options by the Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee
5. The decision made by Cabinet on 12 July 2018 to deliver the service 

through a company that is wholly owned by South Kesteven District Council 
and subsequent decision by Council on 26 July 2018 to make changes to 
the Council’s 2018/19 budget framework

6. New arrangements would require input from a range of the Council’s 
support services, for which Service Level Agreements were being prepared

7. New performance measures would be considered when the service is 
reviewed during the 2019/20 financial year

8. Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011
9. A company limited by shares would allow the Council to own and control the 

environmental services vehicle and allocate any profits for use in the 
Council’s wider activities

10. The group structure would separate the discrete classes of activity (core 
services and purely commercial activity)

11. The Companies Act 2006
12. Model Articles of Association for a company limited by shares as Appendix 

1 to report number ENV703
13. Cabinet’s decision on 6 September 2018 to agree a review of the 

governance arrangements for all of the Council’s companies
14. Any commercial lending undertaken by the Council would be structured 

within the operating framework of the Treasury Management Strategy

105



15. Services provided to the company by the Council would be fully charged on 
a cost recovery basis

16. The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981
17. Public Contract Regulations 2018

Other options considered and assessed

The core grounds maintenance service could be delivered by establishing one 
company – Environment SK without the need for a separate commercial entity. The 
advice received to date indicates that the Council would need to be assured that 
commercial trading levels would not be at risk of exceeding the thresholds sets out in 
procurement regulations. Effectively this could limit the ambition of the company in 
terms of developing its commercial strategy and competing for new contracts. From 
the Council’s perspective this could limit the opportunities available to derive new 
revenue streams and therefore its ability to cross-subsidise other corporate services 
or invest in local priorities.

* * *

In presenting report number ENV703, the Cabinet Member for Environment referred 
to recent work that had been undertaken to determine the best way for the Council to 
deliver its grounds maintenance service. A decision had been made that the service 
should be delivered in-house and arrangements needed to be in place to ensure a 
smooth transition on the changeover date. The primary focus was ensuring that the 
company was in a position to pick up the core service provided by the Council in 
respect of grounds maintenance; it would then develop to explore commercial 
opportunities. This approach was supported by other members of the Cabinet.

As speed was a priority, the formation of the company had been based around Model 
Articles of Association with a view to them being developed in light of the governance 
review of company arrangements and any other future developments. Reference was 
made to a provision that allowed the Directors to appointment a Chairman. Cabinet 
Members agreed that the Cabinet Member for Environment should be appointed as 
Chairman and that this should be incorporated within the decision. The Chairmanship 
of the Directors resting with the Cabinet Member for Environment could then be 
clarified within the Articles of Association as and when they were updated. 

A number of Cabinet Members commended the speed with which this report had 
been produced and brought before Cabinet. Members also spoke of the opportunities 
presented by the formation of the company and the Council’s aim to act more 
commercially. Reference was made to support for the decision to bring the service in-
house both from local communities and parish councils.

Some questions were asked around the transfer of staff from the existing grounds 
maintenance provider to the Council and measures that were being taken to ensure a 
seamless transfer of appropriate staff for the delivery of the service. The success of 
the transfer was considered dependent on good communication between the 
outgoing provider and the Council and it was hoped that a good agreement would be 
in place well in advance of the due date.

106



The report referred to the role of a range of support teams from across the Council. 
Members noted that Communications were an integral part of the project and that the 
Communications Team had been actively involved in meetings around the formation 
of the company and project planning.

Members agreed the recommendations as set out in the report subject to the 
clarification that the Cabinet Member for Environment should be the Chairman of 
Directors’ meetings.

CO37. *HOUSING POLICIES (MUTUAL EXCHANGES, SUCCESSION AND 
ASSIGNMENT)

Decision

Cabinet approves the Mutual Exchange, Assignment and Succession Policies 
as appended to report number HSG134 and delegates responsibility for any 
further minor changes prior to publication to the Cabinet Member for Housing.

Considerations/Reasons for Decision

1. Report number HSG134 of the Cabinet Member for Housing and appended 
draft policies

2. Recommendations of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee regarding the draft policies and the proposal to charge 
a fee for the administration of mutual exchanges (this aspect was not 
supported)

3. The equality analyses attached as appendix 4 to the report
4. Provisions within the Housing Act 1996
5. South Kesteven District Council’s Housing Allocations Policy

Other options considered and assessed

The original intention of the Mutual Exchange charge was to apply it to all applicants 
with the allowance of ‘exceptional reasons’ to waive it.

* * *

In presenting report number HSG134, the Cabinet Member for Housing informed 
Members that the provisions covered by the three draft policies were already in use 
by the Council; the revised documents were designed to provide updated guidance 
and direction to SKDC staff and to clarify procedures for service users. 

Members suggested that paragraph 4.8.3 of the draft Mutual Exchange Policy should 
specify the senior officer who could exercise a waiver in respect of applicants 
affected by extenuating circumstances; it was suggested that this could be the 
Housing Management Lead. The draft policy documents also indicated that they 
would be kept under review. Members felt that this should be set out more explicitly 
and suggested that the policies should be reviewed on an annual basis by the 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the outcome of the review being 
fed back to the Cabinet. A minor amendment was also suggested in respect of 

107



paragraph 5.2 of the draft Succession Policies and Procedures with the removal of 
the words ‘Use and Occupation’, so that the revised sentence would read:

“Whilst a succession application is being considered and the occupant is still 
resident in the property, the Council will grant a licence to allow the Council to 
collect income from the property.”

Rather than amending the policies at the meeting, it was suggested that the wording 
of the recommendation be adjusted to delegate responsibility to the Cabinet Member 
for Housing to make any minor amendments prior to the publication of the policies.

Some discussion ensued on the administrative cost of dealing with an application for 
the mutual exchange of a property. Cabinet Members were advised that as part of its 
considerations the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
had considered whether it would be appropriate to introduce a fee to cover these 
costs. The consensus of the Committee was that there were some circumstances 
where it would not be appropriate to charge, or where potential applicants could not 
afford the charge, and would be prevented from moving. An analysis of cost and 
reward indicated that a fee did not represent good value to the customers and so the 
Committee recommended its removal from the policy.

Members noted that the review of these policies was part of a wider review of the 
way the Council manages tenancies. By taking the opportunity to streamline service 
delivery, tenants would enjoy greater choice and clarity. This would lead to a 
thorough, fundamental review of the housing service to ensure that it provides value 
for money and is efficient. Members were advised that the next policy that would be 
subject to review was the Council’s allocations policy.

Cabinet Members agreed the recommendations in the report with the addition of a 
delegation to the Cabinet Member for Housing allowing him to make minor 
amendments to the policies prior to their publication.

CO38. HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY

Decision

Cabinet approves and fully endorses its commitment to the Council’s Health 
and Safety General Policy Statement (attached as Appendix 1 to report number 
ENV702)

Considerations/Reasons for Decision

1. Report number ENV702 of the Cabinet Member for Environment and the 
Health and Safety General Policy Statement attached as Appendix 1 to the 
report and the Health and Safety Policy Handbook (Appendix 2 to the 
report)

2. Minimum requirements set out in the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
against which the Council has to deliver

3. The Management of health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999

108



4. Delivery of the Council’s Corporate Strategy is underpinned by good health 
and safety arrangements 

Other options considered and assessed

The requirements of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 underpin the 
requirement to have in place appropriate policies. No other options have therefore 
been considered.

* * *

Cabinet considered report number ENV702, which was presented by the Cabinet 
Member for Environment. He stated that health and safety was important across the 
organisation and should be embedded as a core part of the Council’s activities. To 
this end the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Human Resources stated that he 
would ensure that the importance of health and safety would be reiterated to all 
managers. Cabinet Members recognised that health and safety was the responsibility 
of everyone in the organisation and that it should not be about stopping people doing 
things, but ensuring everything that the organisation did was safe and subject to 
appropriate assessments.

Cabinet Members agreed the recommendations in the report.

CO39. SKDC SURVEY OF RESIDENTS 2018

Decision

Cabinet notes the contents of report number ACEX007 and agrees

1. To undertake benchmarking with other local authorities who have 
followed a similar approach via the Local Government Association, so 
the Council can gauge its performance against other local authorities

2. To provide information on the services that are provided by the 
District and County Councils and communicate these to residents

3. To consider the rates of satisfaction across different Council services 
in order to investigate where improvements to satisfaction can be 
made

4. That the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees seek to 
undertake a more detailed analysis of any areas of concern and make 
recommendations back to Cabinet

Considerations/Reasons for Decision

 Report number ACEX007 of the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications 

 A coping exercise which set out the objectives, timescale, methodology, 
outcomes and deliverables for the project

 The Council’s desire to be able to benchmark with other authorities using data 
collated by the Local Government Association 

 1,466 responses received in respect of the survey

109



 A number of the issues that were raised by respondents were the 
responsibility of Lincolnshire County Council

 The statement of correction circulated in the addendum to the Cabinet papers

Other options considered and assessed

No other options were considered.

* * *

When presenting report ACEX007, the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications drew Members’ attention to the correction statement that was 
circulated as part of the addendum to the Cabinet agenda. She said that she was 
pleased with the volume of responses; the survey had been sent to 4,000 residents 
selected at random and publicised via web channels. The survey return was 37%, 
which compared favourably to other Councils which were receiving returns of 20 to 
30% and gave confidence that the responses were statistically representative of the 
wider district. As part of the report, the Cabinet Members was proposing a 
benchmarking exercise, which would test the Council’s performance against other 
local authorities. It was also proposed that any issues of concern be referred to the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee for examination and for it to refer any 
recommendations for actions back to Cabinet.

Members noted that a large number of areas with lower satisfaction levels, including 
potholes, grass verges and street lighting, were the responsibility of Lincolnshire 
County Council; the outcomes relevant to Lincolnshire County Council would be 
forwarded to them. Members of the Communications Team were thanked for their 
work on the survey, which it was hoped would happen every two years.

Other Cabinet Members commented on the return rate, it was however, noted that 
return rate from the under-35 group was the lowest. A number of methodologies were 
used to capture information from residents in different age brackets however it was 
suggested that exploring wider opportunities to use emerging technologies and 
alternative devices could generate an even greater response across all age brackets.

Members of the Cabinet agreed the recommendations within the report.

CO40. MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

Report number LDS316 of the Leader of the Council summarised the activity of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last report was presented to Cabinet on 
6 September 2018.

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
referred to a recent multicultural event that he had attended in Leicester celebrating 
100 years of the RAF.

110



He added that he had also attended a meeting with John Turner, who was due to 
address the Committee on the future of Grantham Hospital. In the meantime, the 
Chairman had agreed to update the Committee with any information shared by Mr 
Turner at meetings of the Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee. Rather than only 
sharing information with Lincolnshire County Council as the top tier of local 
government, it was suggested that a letter be sent asking representatives from the 
Hospitals Trust and Clinical Commissioning Group to speak directly with South 
Kesteven District Council.

Finally he referred to the motion that had been passed by Council in respect of 
modern slavery. He had asked Detective Chief Superintendent Davison from 
Lincolnshire Police to talk about his experiences from working on the recent modern 
slavery case in Lincolnshire when he attended a future meeting of the Committee.

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
spoke briefly about a festival that she had attended in Coventry. Reference was also 
made to the success of the recent Gravity Fields Festival that had taken place in 
Grantham. The success of the festival was echoed by other Members who were 
present, together with the weight it gave to the need to develop the science strand of 
the Cultural Strategy.

Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee referred to the rural 
engagement vehicle. It was felt that this would bring a real benefit to the local 
community. Contact had been made with all Councillors inviting them to commit Ward 
events to this year and next year’s diary so that the vehicle could be booked.

CO41. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON 
KEY AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS.

Report number LDS317 of the Leader of the Council informed the Cabinet that no 
individual Members had made decisions since the last meeting of the Cabinet was 
held on 6 September 2018 and prior to the publication of the agenda for this meeting.

CO42. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS

Report number LDS318 of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet Members that 
no non-Cabinet Members had submitted requests to speak prior to the publication of 
this Cabinet agenda.

CO43. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Report number LDS319 of the Leader of the Council gave an indication of the items 
that would be presented to Cabinet over the following 12-month period. The report 

111



also included items that were scheduled to be considered at Council meetings during 
the municipal year.

CO44. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 15:06.

DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE:

Decisions CO35, CO36, CO37, CO38 and CO39 as made on Thursday, 4 October 
2018 can be implemented on Monday 15 October 2018, unless subject to call-in by 
the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any five members 
of the Council from any political group.

112


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2018
	5 Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)
	6 Review of polling districts and polling places
	Appendix 1- Proposals Schedule
	Appendix 2-Maps
	Appendix 3-Initial Analysis-Polling District and Polling Places 2018_Fin...

	7 Community Governance Review - Corby Glen Parish Council
	Appendix 1 - Order

	8 Establishment of a Working Group to undertake a review of Council Committees in preparation for the municipal year from May 2019
	9 Article 4 Direction - Stamford
	10 Meetings of the Cabinet
	Minutes , 06/09/2018 Cabinet, 01/11/2018 Cabinet
	Minutes of Previous Meeting, 01/11/2018 Cabinet


